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B. Information and Documents Required to be Furnished.
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to directors or officers; and any other informatiori which the registrast deems of material
Importance to security holders.

This report is required to be furnished promptly after the material contained in the
report is made public as described. The information and documents furnished in this
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copies shall be conformed. 7

D. Translations of Papers and Documents Into English.
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reporting obligation under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Act relates shall be in the English
language. English versions or adequate summaries in the English language of such mate-
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English versions or summaries in English thereof. If no such English translations, ver-
sions or summary have been prepared, it will be sufficient to provide a brief description
in English of any such documents or reports. In no event are copies of original language
documents or reports required to be furnished.
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Wharf’s Five Core Brands

Harbour City

Harbour City is the Group's
flagship property at the tip
of the Tsim Sha Tsui
peninsula in Kowloon. it
usually generates some 60
per cent of the Group's
gross rental income from its
8.4 million square feet of
prime commercial space
comprising offices, retail
shops, serviced apartments,
hotels and club, and 2,000
carpark spaces. With its 700
shops and restaurants,
Harbour City is home of
Hong Kong's largest
shopping, dining and
entertainment centre.

i-CABLE

1-CABLE is Hong Kong’s
ieading integrated
communications company
that owns and operates one
of the territory's two near
universal telecommunications
networks. It provides Pay TV
and Broadband Internet
access services; and creates
its own multimedia contents.
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Wharf T&T

Wharf T&T, licensed in 1995,
is one of the fastest growing
fixed-line operators with
significant investment in its
own telecommunications
network infrastructure in
Hong Kong. Since its debut
when the Hong Kong fixed
telecommunications market
was liberalised, Wharf T&T
has continually sought to
upgrade its services and
deliver competitive products
at competitive prices to local
businesses and consumers.
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Times Square

A landmark property in
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong's
busiest shopping district,
Times Square comprises one
million square feet of Grade A
office space, a highly
popular retail podium of
similar size and over 700
carpark spaces. It has been
named one of Hong Kong's
top ten tourist attractions by
the Hong Kong Tourism
Board.

Modern Terminals

Modern Terminals is a
leading operator of world-
class container terminal
services in the South China
region. Established in 1969,
the company has operated
Hong Kong's first purpose-
built container terminal since
September 1972. Whar!
owns 55.3 per cent of
Modern Terminals Limited
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.U U ith the end of deflation in July 2004, Hong Kong is once again the Hong Kong we are all familiar with.

Driven by the Individual Traveller Scheme (ITS), the local retail market made a swift rebound in 2004. Rentals soared as
retail operations expanded. Business opportunities brought about by the Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement
(CEPA) began to emerge. This, coupled with China’s continuous economic development, helped stimulate further
growth in business activities, escalating office demand and thus rental levels. The export market has been in steady
growth, providing opportunities for smail- to medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs”} to expand as well as attracting SMEs
from overseas and the mainland to set up offices in Hong Kong to take advantage of its highly-effective trading
platform. Hong Kong registered GDP year-on-year growth of 8.1 per cent in 2004.

In this business environment, the Group’s five core brands performed well in 2004, with some reporting better-than-
expected results.

Group profit amounted to HK$3,767 million, representing a growth of 24 per cent when compared to HK$3,043
million achieved the year before. Earnings per share were HK$1.54.

Since its inception in 2003, the ITS has been extended to additional mainland cities, stimulating further influx of mainland
tourists to Hong Kong. Statistics from the Hong Kong Tourism Board showed considerable growth in tourist arrivals in
various geographical segments, with a noticeable surge in business visits. Hotel occupancy climbed from 70 per cent the
previous year to 88 per cent in 2004,

Led by continual growth from the trade sector, Grade A office rentals rebounded significantly from the low point
recorded during the SARS period. The Group's flagship property, Harbour City, recently reported office occupancy
of 97 per cent. As no major supply of office space in core business districts is anticipated, rental levels of Harbour
City's offices are expected to continue to rise. This upward trend of rental levels has had a positive impact on

property value. Valuations of the Group’s investment and hotel properties rose by HK$11 billion or 20 per cent in
2004 compared to a year ago.

US interest rates are being modestly adjusted up as anticipated. Local interest rates sooner or later will follow suit to
further narrow the gap. Amidst this upward interest rates cycle, the Group successfully executed its debt reduction
programme in 2004. Our current gearing ratio has decreased to 21.6 per cent. The Group’s business development is
expected to benefit from the high liquidity of the banking system. The Board of Directors recommends a final dividend
of 36 cents per share, bringing the total dividend for the year to 68.75 cents per share (2003: 60.75 cents per share), to
be discussed and approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Business Performance

On behalf of our shareholders and my fellow board members, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to all Group
management and staff for their dedication and hard work throughout the year.
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the Wharf Estates team had another year of success in terms of traffic at the shopping malls as well as average sales
1evenue per square foot as recorded by our tenants. Harbour City and Times Square have become the most popular
~hopping malls in town.

Other business units also recorded steady progress:

+ Timely introduction of triple-play offers followed the launch ot the VolP service to enhance competitiveness of
CME products.

Consolidated net profit of the listed i-CABLE rose by 29 per cent.

Wharf T&T achieved the milestone of free cash tlow.

* Modern Terminals handled 4.35 million TEUs in Kwai Chung, nine per cent higher than the record four million
TEUs achieved in 2003. '

As a special note, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Mr Paul Cheng, who has tendered his resignation
from the Board effective March 31, 2005, and Mr Christopher Langley, who will retire from the Board by rotation at the
coming Annual Generat Meeting and will not stand for re-election, for their invatuable contributions to the Board.

Going Forward

With progressive extension of the [TS as well as the opening of Hong Kong Disneyland, the retail sector will continue to
benefit. The second stage of CEPA, which encourages Chinese private enterprises to make fuller use of the comprehensive
trading services platform in Hong Kong, is expected to accelerate the process of “bringing in, going out” for mainland ‘
enterprises, further facilitating economic development in China and thus giving a boost to Hong Kong's business activities.

Hong Kong is truly an amazing city and story. Having dealt with the 15 years of political transition pre-1997 and
worked through the almost seven years of deflation post-1997, it is unimaginable that any other city could have gone
through these 22-odd years as successfully. Hong Kong is as vibrant and ready as ever to take on the world. The
Group now looks forward to a future that is fulfilling and eventful.

Peter K C Woo
Chairman
Hong Kong, March 15, 2005




i}

0

8

The Wharl (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

Financial Highlights

Results

Turnover

Operating profit before depreciation,
amortisation, interest and tax
Profit attributable to shareholders
Earnings per share
Dividend per share

Financial Position

2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Million
11,953 11,253
6,653 6,342

3,767 3,043

HK$1.54 HK$1.24

68.75 cents 60.75 cents

Total assets

Net debts

Shareholders’ equity

Net assets per share

Net debts to total assets (excluding cash)

Net debts to shareholders’ equity

Group Profit to Shareholders’
Shareholders Funds
(HK$M) (HKSM)

Dividend
Per Share

(HKS)

93,609 81,162
14,077 17,006
65,168 51,628
HK$26.63  HK$21.09
15.4% 21.4%

21.6% 32.9%

Net Assets Value
Per Share
(HKS)

70,000

40,000
30,000
20,000

10,000

00 01 02 03 04 00 01 02 03 o4
¥ Restated * Restated

1.0

0.8

0.6

04

0.2

00 01 02 03 o4

00 01 02 03 04
* Restated
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Wharf Estates Limited
* Harbour City

¢ Times Square

» Plaza Hollywood

Wharf Estates Development Limited

Wharf Communications Limited
o i-CABLE
e Wharf T&T

Wharf China Limited
¢ Wharf Estates China

e Marco Polo Hotels

* Modern Terminals
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Harbour City

Balance Sheet (Extract)
as at December 31, 2004

HKSM
Properties 41,820
Net current liabilities (1,453)
Other non-current liabilities (278)
Net business assets (before debts) 40,089
~ @Gross Revenue
2004 2003
HK$M HK$M
Office - Gateway | & I " 628 643
Office - Other Towers 338
Retail 1,032
Serviced Apartment 186
Hotel and Club 533
3,061 2,732 Harbour City’s office
_occupancy climbed
steadily-from 2003
: . . year-end’s 88% to
Operating Profit 2004 yearend's 95%.
2004 2003 o :
HKSM HK$M oy
o Office
Office - Gateway | & I! 556

yea  Throughout 2004, the Tsim'Sha Tsui office market was
768 strongly driven by-the economic growth in Pearl River

Office — Other Towers
Retail

Serviced Apartment M0 Delta (PRD) and the swift economic recovery of Hong .
Hotel and Club 2 105 . ’
Kong. -Across most commercial districts, keen demand
1,989 . 1,803 . . ' L
from insurance and trading sector tenants resulted in -
increase in rental levels as-well as capital valuation.
Gross Revenue Property Value S :
(HKSM) (HKSM) Harbour City’s office occupancy climbed steadily from 2003

3:500 50,000 year-end's 88 per cent to 2004 year-end’s 95 per cent (see
table on page 13). Based on the latest transaction at Tower 6
of Gateway Il at HK$30 per square foot, it is-believed that
there is room for further improvement'in the office rental
market in 2005. With 75 per cent retention rate for office
tenancies that expired in 2004 and new letting B
commitments totalling about 750,000 square feet, there
was a net take-up of 450,000 square feet during the year
under review. Major leasing transactions in 2004 included
AlA, Berytos, Hanjin Shipping, Intergroup, New Wave

0 o 62 03 oA Logistics, Olympus, etc, totaliing more than 170,000 square

3,000
40,000

30,000
- 20,000

10,000

T00 01.02 03 04
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Office Occupancy & Rental at Harbour City in 2004

Gateway Il Gateway | Others

Total GFA (sq ft) 1,570,000 1,128,000 1,737,000
Occupancy at year end 95.6% 98.0% 95.0%
Rental {average spot rate) — Beginning of 2005 HK$21 HK$19 HK$16
— Beginning of 2004 HK$19 HK$16 HK$13

{eet. Anchor tenants such as CPF East Asia, Japan Airlines,
Kenfair, May Department Store and Zurich Insurance also
renewed their leasing agreements during the year

under review.

) o ) , Tsim Sha Tsui is fast becoming Hong
Tsim Sha Tsui is fast becoming Hong Kong's core Central Kong's core Central Business District for
Business District for companies associated with the Pearl companes associated with the mainiand

) i market., Rental levels of Harbour City
River Delta and other mainland markets. Thanks to the offices are expected to continue 10 rise.

second stage of the Closer Economic Partnership
Arrangement (CEPA II) launched in August of 2004,
Chinese private enterprises are encouraged to invest and
set up offices in Hong Kong. Chinese small- to medium-
sized companies can now make use of Hong Kong's weli-
established trading platform to enter the world market,
creating further demand on the office market in the years
to come. The current economic momentum will likely
stimulate continuous upgrading needs, creating new
demand for Grade A office space. That, coupled with the
absence of major new supply in core districts, will see the
office leasing market growing further in 2005,

In addition, Tsim Sha Tsui's proximity to major
transportation links and Hong Kong’s increasing reliance on
the mainland market have made Tsim Sha Tsui a natural
choice of office location for multinational, mainland and
local enterprises. 1t is expected that multinational and
domestic companies engaged in China businesses will
became an increasingly important driver of Grade A office
take-ups, following the trend within the financial sector
and further facilitating the ripple effect of rental recovery
from Central to Tsim Sha Tsui in the near future.




(left) Widely regarded as the “Champs
Elysées” of Hong Kong, Canton Road
continued to witness a growing
presence of top-tier retailers.

(right) Harbour City's festive mechanical
decoration is a not-to-be-missed scenic

spot during Christmas.

Harbour City: Retail Tenant Mix

(by Area and Rental)
as at December 31, 2004

“ 4 The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

Restaurant, Fast Food, F&B
Fashion
Department Stores,

Confectionery Products

Leather Goods —
Shoes, Bags &

© . Related Trades

Children’s Wear &
Related Trades, Toys

Jewellery, Beauty and
Accessories

Sports Wear
Electrical &
*-Audio-visual Equipments

Others

% by Area
24.4
216

13.7

8.1
7.7

“5.5
5.5

‘3.8
9.7
100.0

% by Rental
10.0
35.7

94

16.8

4.8

9.9
5.0

31
5.3
100.0
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Retail

The launch of the Individual Traveller Scheme (ITS) in mid-2003 led to
a strong influx of mainland tourists into Hong Kong. As recorded by
the Hong Kong Tourism Board (HKTB), the mainland continued to top
the chart of tourist arrivals in Hong Kong in 2004, reaching 12.25
million. This marked a new high from 2002’s 6.82 million and 2003's
8.47 million, representing a growth of 80 per cent and 44.6 per cent
respectively. This, together with an increase of tourist arrivals from all
other major segments, gave rise to a surge in local confidence,
resulting in a sharp upswing in Hong Kong’s retail market.

Under this operating environment, Harbour City achieved an average
occupancy of 98 per cent throughout 2004. All new leases and
renewals recorded favourable rental growth. In December 2004,
Harbour City tenants recorded an average of more than HK$1,000 in
terms of sales per square foot, representing a new high since 1998.
Apart from the sales growth enjoyed by tenants, leasing activities in
Harbour City remained active. On-going re-merchandising in trade
mix and promotional efforts continued to attract shoppers as well as
quality and prestigious brand names to Harbour City. During the
year, a number of international brand names such as Canali, cK Calvin
Klein, Emporio Armani Accessories, FCUK, Marc by Marc Jacobs,
Montegrappa, Mulberry, New Balance, Nike Women, Oregon
Scientific, Plastig, Replay, Swank Ladies, Tag Heuer, Vacheron
Constantin, Vivienne Westwood and more signed up to open outlets
in Harbour City.
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Soadely reqarded as the “Champs Elysées” of Hong Kong, Canton Road
Stmeied to witness a growing presence of top-tier international
«aler, brom Gueci, Hugo Boss, Joyce, Lane Crawford, Louis Vuitton,
i.uda, Salvatore Ferragamo and YSL at Harbour City to Cartier,
<hue, Dior, Dunhill, Ermenegildo Zegna, Escada, Fendi and Hermes
«natelyust across the street, the Canton Road area has become a not-
w b issed attraction for tourists as well as affiuent local shoppers.

ook and beverage outlets at Harbour City also enjoyed healthy
naaness growth in 2004, Habitu The Pier, Nagoyaka Tei and The
~oneqrill are new food and beverage outlets located at the newly-

cenovated Marine Deck at Ocean Terminal. These newcomers,

tonether with Double Star Café, Panash, rice paper and Signature

< urane, which also joined Harbour City during the year, further
nroadened the mall's culinary selection and have all been well-
woved since their openings. Harbour City will continue to channel
«Iorts into widening its food and beverage spectrum by introducing

adritional specialty cuisines to satisfy palates of all kinds.

On-going trade-mix
enhancement and
promotional efforts
continue to attract
shoppers and quality
retalers to Harbour City.

Harbour City: Portfolio Information

Gross  Average

Year-end

Area Revenue Occupancy Valuation

(sq ft}  (HK$M} (%) (HKSM)
Office
Catewdy 2,698,000 628 90 13,797
CHher Towers 1,737,000 317 92 5717
Retail 1,913,000 1,193 98 13,444
Serviced Apartment 670,000 193 78 5,100
Hotel and Club 1,360,000 730 91 3,762

The Wharf (Holdings) Linted

Anchor Tenants

AlA, CMG Asia, DuPont, GlaxoSmithKline, Hallmark, JAL,
Karstadt Quelle, MGA Entertainment, MLC, Nike, Olympus,
Prominent Apparel, Prudential, Sears, Sony

APL, Hasbro, Hitachi, Mattel, May Department Store,
MGB Metro-Group, NYK Logistics, Simba-Toys,
Zurich Life Insurance

agnés b., Broadway, Burberry, City'Super, Cova, G.O.D.,

Giga Sports, Gucci, Habitu The Pier, Hugo Boss, Joyce,

Lane Crawford, Louis Vuitton, Marks & Spencer, Prada,

Salvatore Ferragamo, Toys“R"Us, Ye Shanghai, Yves Saint Laurent
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(above) Cruise Passenger Waiting Hall
at Ocean Terminal, Harbour City.

(below) The Canton Road countdown
party on Christmas Eve has become
an annual mega event of the city.

BUSINESS REVIEW ~ PROPERTY [l WHARF ESTATES LIMITED

A powerhouse concept was also implemented to add excitement
and stimulate spending. SportX, which opened in June upon
completion of Ocean Terminal’s revamp, not only houses a
comprehensive range of sportswear labels, but also features a multi-
purpose sports court, a putting area and a climbing wall. Other
trade clusters in Ocean Terminal include the recently expanded KidX,
Faces — the largest cosmetic centre in town, and LCX — which
targets the young and trendy. An audio-visual avenue was also
introduced in Ocean Centre, featuring Broadway, Chung Yuen,
Fortress and a number of specialty shops.

As part of its on-going vaiue creation exercise, Harbour City
announced plans to turn a 45,000-square-foot carparking area located
on the first floor of Ocean Centre into retail space at a cost of HK$145
million, further reflecting the view that there is a buoyant outlook for
the sector. The renovation is expected to be completed by early 2006.

The competitive landscape amongst shopping malls is ever increasing.
Harbour City will continue its efforts on trade-mix enhancement and
image building. On-going marketing and promotional efforts are
afoot to sustain the momentum and to ensure customers’ loyalty.

HKTB estimated that Hong Kong would continue to witness healthy
growth in tourist arrivals in year 2005. Tourists from the mainland will
continue 1o rise due to the extension of the ITS to more cities.
Additionally, with the introduction of Disneyland and the Hong Kong
Wetland Park in 2005, family travel and business-cum-leisure trips to
Hong Kong will be further boosted. in March 2005, HKTB forecasted
a robust 23.4 million tourist arrivals to Hong Kong for 2005, a seven
per cent increase compared to 2004 21.8 million. As a tourist and
entertainment hub, Tsim Sha Tsui will continue to benefit from a
steady increase of tourists and affluent shoppers. It is expected that
retail rentals will continue to be on an upward trend.
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Serviced Apartment

While there was a growth in business visitors to Hong Kong for deals
«nd trade fairs in 2004, rebounding home prices and improved local
~entiment have turned some apartment tenant prospects toward
hiome ownership.

Notwithstanding this, Gateway Apartments’ occupancy grew sharply
lost year from January’s average of 68 per cent to 83 per cent at year-
end. in addition to @ pick-up in occupancy rate, there was also a
imoderate growth in rental level during 2004. With its reputable
hrand name, excellent service and prime location with panoramic
views overlooking the world-famous Victoria Harbour, Gateway
Apartments continued to be a favourite among senior executives from
inultinational corporations. About 67 per cent of tenancies have a
duration of 12 months and above, while another 15 per cent have a
duration of six to 12 months; the remaining 18 per cent are
«ommitted for periods of less than six months.

Hotel

Ihe operating environment for the hotel industry remains promising in
light of the encouraging tourist arrivals of 21.8 million recorded in
2004 by the HKTB. There was an overall growth of 40.4 per cent
when compared with 2003, when Hong Kong was adversely affected
by SARS in the second quarter.

led by this strong recovery, the three hotels at Harbour City
tugether recorded a 43 per cent increase in revenue compared to a
year ago. The consolidated occupancy for the three Marco Polo
lotels at Harbour City increased significantly from 67 per cent in
2003 to 91 per cent for the year under review. The average
occupancy rates for The Marco Polo Hongkong Hotel, The Marco
Polo Gateway and The Marco Polo Prince in 2004 were 88 per cent,
93 per cent and 94 per cent respectively.

The Whart (Holdings) Linuted

Gateway Apartments’
occupancy grew sharply last
year from January’s average of
68% to 83% at year-end.

The consolidated accupancy for
the three Marco Polo hotels
increased significantly from
67% in 2003 to 91% in 2004.
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. Times Square — a landmark property in
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong's busiest

/) shopping district.
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1imes Square

Balance Sheet {(Extract)
. al December 31, 2004

HK$M
Properties 14,800
Net current liabilities (237)
Other non-current liabilities (249)
Net business assets (before debts) 14,314
Gross Revenue
2004 2003
HKSM  tksm gl (] i
Office 237 2% ”z"l
Retail 600 585 1 B
837 841
Operating Profit
2004 2003
HK$M HK$M
Office 187 206
Retail 508 497
695 703
Gross Revenue Property Value
(HK$MY {HKIM)
1,200 18,000
1,000 15,000 14800

Stock Exchange, joined Times

400 6,000 Square in August, 2004.

200

- Times Square is a preferred office
800 12,000 focation for multinationals. MLC,
a member of National Australia
Bank, the largest financial service
600 9,000 institution listed on the Australian
3,000

Office

00 01 02 03 o4 00 01 02 03 04 As a landmark property in Causeway Bay, Times Square
is a preferred location for multinationals engaged in the
service and consumer goods industries. The occupancy
rate of Times Square offices reached 95 per cent at the
end of 2004. Total floor area committed in 2004 was
210,370 square feet, almost doubled that for 2003
(113,090 square feet).




)
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Panes Squars: Portfolio tnformation

Gross Average Year-end
Area Revenue Occupancy Valuation
(sq ft) (HK$M) (%) (HK$M) Anchor Tenants

Otfice 1,033,000 237 87 5,517  AlA, AT&T, Boston Consulting, Coca-Cola, Disney, L'Oreal,
Lucent, MLC, NCR, Royal Bank of Scotland PLC, Shell

. Retail 936,000 600 96 9,283  Bally, Broadway, City'Super, D-mop, FCUK, Fortress, Gucci, 1.1,

Lane Crawford, Mango, Marks & Spencer, Max Mara,
PageOne Bookshop, Salvatore Ferragamo, UA Cinema

tlew lenants signed up in 2004 included Avex Asia Ltd, Bay-in
tesources, DHC (Hong Kong) Ltd, DTS, Experian Asia Pacific Pty Lid.,
il Hills, Macromedia, Proudfoot (Netherlands), Sisley and United

I iipmeers Development. Apart from new leases, some existing
traants also expanded their offices due to an increase in business
achvities in 2004, These included AlA, Hitachi, Lane Crawford,
I"Oreal, Market Catalyst and Panalpina. During the year under review,
Approximately 73 per cent of all expiring feases were renewed and
lavourable rental growth has been recorded.

wWilh its superb location, professionat management, state-of-the-art
lacitities and competitive rental package, Times Square at Causeway
I5.y remains a preferred office location on the island side. It is expected
that the limited supply of Grade A offices in Central in the next few

vyears will help push up the rental rates in Causeway Bay during 2005.

tahove) Times Square is a landmark
- property in Causeway Bay with profestional
management and state-ctf-the-art facilities

iiet) Times Square’s office occupancy
reached 95% at 2004 yeai-end.
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Times Square’s retail
occupancy maintained at
about 96% in 2004. Most
retail tenants enjoyed
satisfactory improvement
in sales per square foot
during the year.

Retail

With the upswing of the retail market, Times Square’s retail occupancy
maintained at about 96 per cent and favourable rental growth was
recorded during the year. A host of popular international brands
including Anna Sui, Billabong, Bose, D-mop, FCUK, Guy Laroche,
Lacoste, Lafuma, Lloyd, New Balance, Oregon Scientific, 0ZOC, Red
Dragon, S.T. Dupont, Tommy Hilfiger and The North Face opened shops
at Times Square during the year under review. Four exciting new
restaurants - California Pizza Kitchen, Chung’s Cuisine, Oceanna and
Super Star Seafood Restaurant have met with an enthusiastic market
response since opening in 2004.

Most retail tenants enjoyed satisfactory improvement in sales per square
foot including anchor tenants such as City'Super, Marks and Spencer,
Lane Crawford and others. Supported by buoyant consumer sentiment,
City'Super expanded its operation in 2004 by taking up new space. The -
popular PageOne Bookshop was consequently relocated to the ninth
floor. Not only was this an extension of the themed-floor concept, but
traffic improvement has also been observed following the strategic move.




4
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Times Square stands to benefit
from growing tourist arrivals and
buoyant consumer sentiment.

Refurbishment on Basement 2 was completed in August with the Times Square: Retail Tenant Mix

(by Area and Rental)
as at December 31, 2004

addition of guality brands including Chow Tai Fook, DHC, Dr. Ci:Labo,
i» Duet, Laneige, Leonidas, Mac Look, Nici and Tissot. The enhanced
lenant mix proved to be a huge success with most retailers on

itasement 2 recording double-digit growth in their sales performance Restaurant, Fast Food, F&8
compared with the same period last year. Anchor food and beverage
outlets Crystal Jade La Mian Xiao Long Bao, Genki Sushi and Watami

wore constantly seen with long queues of patrons.

Department Stores,
Confectionery Products

Fashion

Electricat &
Audio-visual Equipments

ideally located in the most popular shopping hub Causeway Bay, Jeweliery, Beauty and

Times Square is expected to record growth in 2005 in terms of both Accessories
~ales revenue and rental rates driven by growing tourist arrivals and Sparts Wear
broyant consumer sentiments. Others

Plaza Hollywood

(hianks to its convenient location, its successful tfrade mix and an
nnprovement in local sentiment, Plaza Hollywood recorded double-
thigit growth in both foot and vehicle traffic in 2004. The average

o Cupancy rate maintained at about 98 per cent with most retailers
ecording more than 10 per cent year-on-year growth in average sales
pur square foot during the year under review. Anchor tenant Hong
Kong Best Denki expanded during 2004 and became the largest
clectrical store in Kowloon East. On-going trade-mix enhancement

[

continued to draw shoppers as well as quality retailers to Plaza w

e Bini : T R
Hollywood. Crowd-pleasers like Dining Room, G. Sushi and A PG i
', 'b%
Slrawberry Forever Dessert Café opened new outlets in Plaza “m&ﬁ.‘a

lollywood, widening the mall's food and beverage choices.

271

21.2
16.9

148

% by Area % by Rental

14.3

15.0
296

10.5

17.2
8.7

Plaza Hollywood recordid
double-digit growth u Dot

foot and vehicie tialti oy
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Whart Estates Development Limited

Balance Sheet (Extract)
as at December 31, 2004

HKS$M
Properties 6,463
Interest in Sorrento and Bellagio 1,234*
Property inventory and development 1,426
Second mortgage debtors 45
Net current liabilities (112)
Net non-current liabilities (83)
Net business assets (before debts) 8,973

* Include 1/3 interest in Bellagio and 40% interest in Sorrento, of which
20% held through Harbour Centre Development Limited, @ 67%-
awned subsidrary

Pre-sales for Beflagio

Towers 1 and 3 are
planned for 2005.

Due to the improved economic outlook and market sentiment, 2004
recorded the highest volume of property transactions since 1997. The
total number of purchase and sales transactions increased by more
than 40 per cent compared to 2003, the majority of which were
residential properties.

Bellagio

Bellagio, a joint-venture development equally owned by Wharf,
Wheelock and Wheelock Properties Ltd, is located in Sham Tseng on
the western shore of the New Territories overlooking the Tsing Ma
Bridge. Phase | and li, providing a total of 1,704 residential units,
were completed in late 2002. Cumulative sales reached 1,690 units
(99 per cent sold), realising proceeds of about HK$4.1 billion.

Construction of Phase Ill and IV, comprising a total of 1,641
residential units, commenced in March 2003 with target completion
in the first quarter of 2006. Pre-sales for Tower 2 and Tower 5 (Total:
844 units) were launched in early September 2004 and met with
favourable market responses. At the end of December 2004,
cumulative sales reached 684 units (81 per cent sold), realising
proceeds of about HK$2.5 billion. Pre-sales for Towers 1 and 3 are
expected to be launched in 2005.
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Sorrento

Lo ated above the Kowloon Station, Sorrento is a joint-venture project
between MTRC and a five-member consortium equally owned by Whart,
iarbour Centre Development, Wheelock, Wheelock Properties Ltd and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock Properties Ltd. Pre-sales for Phase |l
tlowers 1 and 2, total: 854 units) commenced in November 2002. At the
oend of December 2004, cumulative sales reached 827 units (97 per cent
~old), realising proceeds of about HK$5.6 hillion.

Wharf Peak Portfolio

A sharp upswing in Hong Kong's economy, particularly the swift
recovery of the finance sector, and the corresponding improved local
sentiment, helped boost the luxury residential market. Mountain
Court and Chelsea Court recorded 83 per cent and 100 per cemt
occupancy respectively as at the end of 2004. No. 1 Plantation Road,
providing 48 deluxe apartments, was 81 per cent let at the end of
2004. The average rental rate also recorded a favourable gain during
lhe period under review.

Redevelopment of No. 3-5 Gough Hill Path, comprising five deluxe

houses, has started. Superstructure works commenced in August . )
(above) Cumulative sales of Sorrento Phase If

2004 and completion is targeted for the third quarter of 2006. Pre- reached 827 units a! the end of 2004

sales are expected to take place in the fourth quarter of 2005. (below) Mountain Court recorded 83%
occupancy at the end of 2004

Property List

Project Nature GFA (sq ft) % Owned Status
World Trade Square Office/Retail 395,000 100% For Lease
No. 1 Plantation Road Residential 87,000 100% For Lease
Mountain Court Residential 49,900 100% For Lease
Chelsea Court Residential 43,000 100% For Lease
Various units of Strawberry Hill Residential 37,000 100% For Lease
77 Peak Road Residential 32,000 100% For Lease
Sorrento Phase | & If Residential 2,531,000¢ 33%* For Sale
Bellagio Phase i Residential 1,525,300° 33% For Sale
Bellagio Phase I/1V Residential 1,591,800 33% For Pre-sale
No. 60 Victoria Road Residential 48,800 67%* Under Construction
No. 3-5 Gough Hill Path Residential 24,700 100% Under Construction
Cable TV Tower South Retail/Hote! 596,000 100% Under Design Planning
Kowloon Godown Residential/Hotel 1,078,000 100% Under Planning Submission
Yau Tong Godown Retail/Residential 244,000 100% Under Planning Submission
Yau Tong JV Project Retail/Residential 9,041,000 15.6% Under Planning Submission
4 Substannafly ~ofd
#4 Partly pro-wohd

| ifeciive owvaeinhip
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i-CABLE Communications Limited

Balance Sheet (Extract)

as at December 31, 2004

HKSM
Non-current assets 2,297
Net current liabilities (360)
Non-current liabilities (109)
Net assets 1,828
Capital and reserves
Share capital 2,019
Reserves (191)
1,828
EBITDA and CAPEX
Historical Trend Total Turnover
(HK$M) {HKSM)
1,000 2,400 o 2n | i .
200 2,000 - - P ——— .
o o 1,600
600
. ' : 1,200 . >
400 - caphal
; v E‘p’m’“""e 800 = With 22 new channels launched in 2004,
s ’ CABLE TV now offers a total of 92 channels.
200 . o
- 400
0 ) 0 l : Buoyed by an improving economy, consolidated net profit of
00 01 02 03 04 959697989900010203 04 . o . .
the listed i-CABLE rose by 29 per cent in 2004, surpassing
. A all previous records, despite intensified competition in its
Pay TV Subscribers Broadband Subscribers P P - P ,
(in thousands) (i thousands) core markets. Respectable subscription growth in both Pay
800 300 . 2, TV and Broadband sectors through strong programming and
702 ' : effective marketing initiatives enabled i-CABLE to weather

640

_ ’ 240 pressures from competition with a degree of success. The
- ‘ timely introduction of the company’s own triple-play service
480 180 : (viz, broadband, television and voice) during the last quarter
‘ 3 § _’ of the year, further enhanced its competitiveness.
320 . | | 20 ) | v~ 1
’ v _ | | At the same time as the core businesses reported healthy
160 [ ] 6 growth, i-CABLE’s content service has been reaching out,
l ' 18 ' both within the domestic market and beyond Hong Kong,
0 0 3
28

—_

955697959900010203 04 beyond residential homes and commercial places. These

S
06/01 NN

12002
6/0
Pl

06/0:

12/04

developments, which leveraged on the company's
content production and aggregation capabilities, have



begun to add new dimensions to its potential market. The company's
content has now reached the maintand, the Americas and passengers
on flights and will soon be available in Southeast Asia.

Pay TV
Spurred on by strang programming, subscription growth and airtime
sales growth, performance of this core business continued to be robust.

Pay TV subscribers grew by seven per cent year-on-year to 702,000
at the end of 2004, attributable to the exclusive broadcast of the

popular EURO 2004 football tournament in the summer and other
programming and marketing initiatives during the rest of the year.

During the year under review, i-CABLE continued to expand its
programming platform with the introduction of more channels and
packages, with a view 10 enhancing its attractiveness o viewers.
Important acquisition in 2004 included English Premier League
telecasting rights, which gave rise to i-CABLE’s revamp of the sports
platform in August. Further enhancing the programme offering of the
company's Pay TV service, a total of 22 new channels were launched,
including the EPL Channel, Soccer Betting Channel and NBA TV,
allowing viewers 24-hour access to the most popular basketball
tournament in Hong Kong, etc. for inclusion in the Basic Package or for
premium subscription. CABLE TV now offers a total of 92 channels with
48 channels included in the basic package. Apart from launching new
channels, a Digitised Sports Centre particularly catering for the
upcoming FIFA World Cup 06 was alsc in full operation during 2004.

During mid-year, i-CABLE substantially completed its migration to the
digital transmission platform, which enabled the deployment of more
efficient countermeasures against the perennial problem of piracy.

The Whart (Holdimg«) Dimated 1
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i-CABLE's Pay TV subscribers grew by
7% year-on-year to 702,000 at the
end of 2004.

Broadband subscribers reached
291,000 at the end of 2004.

BUSINESS REVIEW  CME ] WHARF COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED

Throughout 2004, the company has also made efforts to expand its
business beyond the conventional residential and commercial markets.
Leveraging on its content production capability, i-CABLE is now the
sole supplier of local news service to Hong Kong's fiag carrier, Cathay
Pacific Airways, with an in-flight channel on its planes. The company
has also reached an agreement with KCRC to be the sole content
provider and exclusive commercial-airtime sales agent for television
service on board its trains.

2004 saw remarkable growth of the commercial airtime sales
business, with total revenue growing 54 per cent over 2003. Such
growth was driven by the company’s on-target multi-channel
advertising approach and more successful penetration among
advertisers.

i-CABLE will continue to explore other media exposure for new
business opportunities both within and outside of Hong Kong while at
the same time, continuing to expand its market share in the local

Pay TV market through programme enhancement and innovative
marketing. The company is confident that with its proprietary
content, inclusive of the English Premier League and the FIFA World
Cup 06 attraction, it can prevail over the competition.

Broadband and Internet Service

The core Broadband Internet access business is back on a growth
track despite increasing commoditisation in the market as a result of
keen competition. Broadband subscribers grew by 13 per cent to
291,000 at the end of 2004 as subscription picked up in the second
half through successful service enhancement and the introduction of
new bundled packages. ARPU for the full year recorded a nine per
cent growth to HK$140 but downward pressure resumed in the
second half of the year.

During the year under review, the company’s timely introduction of its
triple-play offers, which followed the launch of VoIP service, further
enhanced its competitiveness. Furthermore, i-CABLE's leading
content-provision position was further enhanced with the conclusion
of additional carriage agreements with mobile cperators to open up
mobile content opportunities in the mainland.




Wharf T&T

The economic recovery did not put the FTNS market back
on the growth curve. Continuing over-capacity for what
has become largely a commodity drove competition even
harder. With customer "liquidity” diminishing further,
the battle for market share intensitied but changes in
market share slowed down.

In response to the new Type |l regime, the company
embarked on a major business transtormation in the third
quarter of 2004. In the residential sector, the company
rolled out Digital Homeline over i-CABLE's HFC network.
in the business sector, a new network rollout and sales
strategy was adopted. Migration of existing customer lines
away from Type |l also started in earnest in both the
residential and business sectors. Though the need to
transform affected performance in the short term, it has
helped pave the way for a more rewarding business model
in the longer term.

Wharf T&T has achieved the milestone of
free cash flow during the year.

The Whatt (Holding

Balance Sheet (Extract)

as a1 Perember 31, 2004

<) Lernted

HK$M
Fixed assets 2,808
Net current liabilities (200)
Other non-current liabilities (25)
Net business assets {before debts) 2,583
Results Summary
2004 2003

HK$SM HKIM Change %
Turnover 1,252 1,235 1
Cost of Sales (488) (472) -3
Gross Protit 764 763 0
Operating Expenses (377) (376) 0
EBITDA 387 387 0
ITD&A (350) (333) -5
Operating profit 37 54* -31
T'é(;o'r;‘"nur;-_ré;brﬁng fixed a,sse;sn‘;vrii.e off u!likfﬁ?mhun— T -’
¥ Before non-recurting fixed assets write off of HK$298 million
Fixed Line Growth Total Revenue
{in thousands) (HKIM; )
480 473 1,400

1,252

420

360

1,000

300 .
240
. 600 1,005
180 3 21 (84%)
400
120
60 200 i
0 0

800

00 01 02 03 04

1,200

206
(16%)

QE AR
=

FRIE

00 01 02 03 04

- hixed Line kevenug
{1 1 3ervices Reverne
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Wharf T&T has achieved the milestone of free cash flow during the
year. The fixed line installed base grew by 42,000 or 10 per cent year-
on-year to reach 475,000, representing an overall market share of

12 per cent. Of this installed base, 319,000 lines were for business
service and 156,000 lines for residential service. Business lines
increased by 26,000 or nine per cent during the year under review
while residential lines grew by 16,000 or 11 per cent. The company’s
market share for business lines and residential lines was 18 per cent
and seven per cent respectively.

Total outgoing IDD volume in 2004 increased by 23 per cent to 466
million minutes compared to the year before. With the establishment
of EC Telecom Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary focusing on IDD
with a much more competitive cost structure, IDD007 retail activities
subsided to preserve margin and protect the legacy customer base.

Business Market
As a group, business customers accounted for 76 per cent of Wharf T&T's
total revenue in 2004,

Among the various carrier and wholesale sectors, Wharf T&T remained
dominant in non-captive ETS hosting with a 95 per cent market share. A
combination of service quality, pricing and account management enabled
Wharf T&T to become more successful in the high-valte data business
of the international carrier sector. Significant progress was also achieved
in the development of the wholesale/refiling IDD business. This business
sector continued to demonstrate rapid growth during the year.

During the period, the company continued to successfully penetrate
corporate and multi-national sectors through its superb services and
innovative solutions. New premium customers included ATOS Origin,
Statestreet Bank, Wang Tai, etc. New products including Supertone
and Multipoint Video Conferencing services helped the company
create reasons for change in this sector. As for the business Internet
access market, the installed base of our Broadband Webtone service
recorded significant growth during the year under review. In a bid to
further strengthen the bond with Wharf T&T's customer base, a new
Customer Contact Management Centre (CCMC) was established

in 2004,




{ onsumer Market

. qroup, residential customers accounted for 24 per cent of
Wharf T&T’s total revenue in 2004.

<« hiney on the strategic repositioning of the company, Digital Homeline
it} y was rolled out with aggressive selling through various channels

1 luding direct sales, telesales and bundled offers via i-CABLE and

« ABLE TV. Simultaneously, a conversion programme was rolled out to
nngrate existing Homeline customers, served via Type Il Interconnection,
to DHL over the HFC network. The prospect of DHL hinges on timely
reduction of acquisition cost, rebuilding of the sales force and resolving
1 ertain technical glitches within the first quarter of 2005.

During the year under review, despite exchanges of winback
programmes offered by the major players, IDD margins improved,
which was attributable to the legacy customer base.

The Wharf (Holdings) tinmuted

Fixed Line Market Share

88% --- - . .

Other FTNS

2% -
Wharf T&T £

Total Market

Business Market
/[— 18%  Whart T&T
---82%  Other FTNS

3 Residential Market
251 7%  Wharf 18T
/i 93% Other FTNS

Wharf T&T's business
customers accounted for 76%
of its total revenue in 2004,




an at December 31. 2004

Investment properties
Other properties and fixed assets

Property inventory and development
Net current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities

Net business assets (before debts)

Both Shanghai Times
Square (left) and Beffing
Capital Times Square
tright) recorded growth in
office occupancy in 2004,

LB
o
"
o
-

—-—'.‘ .‘

) Phe Wheat (Holding) Dimted Sooand Bepeot 004
)

HKSM
4,605
876
5,481

1,489
(371)
(641)

5,958
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Wharf China continued to develop and manage high-guality

investment properties in major cosmopolitan cities in China through
its reputable brand “Times Square”.

Beijing Capital Times Square is a retail and office complex with about
1.3 million square feet in gross floor area (GFA). 1t is strategically
located in the Xiden area, at the intersection of West Changan
Avenue and Xuanwu Men Nei Avenue. Although the Central
Government has implemented austerity measures since early 2004 to
slow down economic growth, the complex maintained an office

average occupancy rate of 91 per cent throughout 2004, a six per
cent increase from 2003's 85 per cent.

The 1.2 million-square-foot Shanghai Times Square is a retail, office
and apartment complex on Huai Hai Zhong Road, at the very heart of
Shanghai's CBD. It has excellent accessibility with convenient links to
major highways and a nearby underground railway station. Similar to
Beijing Capital Times Square, in spite of the impact of Central
Government's austerity measures on the Shanghai economy,
occupancy rates of the office, residential and retail portions in 2004
improved to 96 per cent, 86 per cent and 81 per cent respectively,

Chongging Times Square, with about 1.6 million square feet of GFA,
is located at the City's central retail area, Liberation Statue Square,
between Zou Rong Road and Min Zu Road. It is a retail, office and
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apariment complex comprising four residential towers atop the retail/
-amimercial podium. Residential Towers A, B and C were completed and sold
m April 2003, Tower D with a total of 302 units was completed in November
/004, and 227 apartment units (75 per cent) have already been sold. The
retail portion progressed according to plan and budget with the opening of a
' /0,000-square-foot department store taking place in December 2004.

Wuhan Times Square, the Group's fourth Times Square project, is located at
‘Yan Jiang Da Dao fronting the Yangtze River in Hankou, Wuhan. With about
2.4 million square feet of GFA, it is planned to be primarily a residential and

office-apartment complex. Superstructure works have commenced and target
completion for the entire development is in the fourth quarter of 2007.

The Group's fifth Times Square project Datian Times Square is located along
Ren Min Road in the Zhongshan District of Dalian. 1t wiil be developed into a
1.9 million-square-foot retail/apartment complex. Foundation works are
scheduled to start in the first quarter of 2005 and completion for the whole

project is targeted for the fourth quarter of 2007. Wuhan Times Square is

targeted for completion by
the fourth quarter of 2007.

In Shanghai, foundation works for the commercial development located at
1717 Nan Jing Xi Road in the Jingan District of Shanghai have commenced.
The 1.6 million-square-foot complex comprises a Grade A office tower with
cutting-edge specifications and state-of-the-art facilities plus a retail annex
boasting a walking linkage to a major subway station. Completion for the
whole development is targeted for 2008.

The Group’s other property projects in Shanghai, including Shanghai Wellington
Garden and Shanghai Parc Royal are progressing according to schedule.

Project Nature GFA (sq ft) Status Completion
Beijing Capital Times Square Office/Retail 1,295,000 For Lease 1999
Shanghai Times Square Office/Retail/Residential 1,211,000 For Lease 1999
Chongging Times Square Office/Retail/Residential 1,570,000* For Lease / Sale 2004
Shanghai Wellington Garden Residential” 562,000 Under Construction 2006
Wuhan Times Square Retail/Residential” 2,408,400 Under Construction 2007
1717 Nan Jing Xi Road Oftfice/Retail 1,589,300 Under Construction 2008
Dalian Times Square Retail/Residential 1,866,000 Under Planning 2007
Shanghai Parc Royal Residential” 802,000 Under Planning 2007
Shanghai Jingan Garden Residential” 970,000 Under Planning 2008

* Fartly sofd
¥ Residennai in¢ huies office-apartment-
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Marco Polo Hotel Group

The Marco Polo Hotel Group
will open a second defuxe
hotel in the Chaoyang District
of Beijing in 2006.

The Marco Polo Hotel in
Saigon was named one of the
best hotels in the city during
the year under review.

The Marco Polo Hotel Group currently boasts a portfolio of nine hotels
throughout Asia, including those under construction. During the year
under review, the Marca Polo Hotel in Saigon, Vietnam was named
one of the best hotels in the city. ‘

Following the opening of the Marco Polo Beijing in December 2001,
the Marco Poio Hotel Group will operate a second deluxe hotel in
Beijing, which is scheduled to open in 2006. It is ideally located in the
Chaoyang district of Beijing and is in close proximity to the Olympic
Green. It has convenient access to various public transportation,
including Subway Line No. 5 and the Olympic Subway Lines. It is also
within 20-minute driving distance from the Beijing Capital
International Airport.

This 17-storey hotel will provide 320 rooms and suites, with the
inclusion of a Marco Polo’s Continental Club. There will be a
specially-designed executive fioor to provide deluxe accommodation
and service for discerning travellers. A wide variety of food and
beverage outlets will be featured, highlights of which will include the
signature Café Marco, a Chinese restaurant featuring regional
specialties and the Lobby Lounge. Additionally, its well-appointed
conference and banquet facilities will be perfect for meetings,
seminars and social events while the recreation centre will feature a
comprehensive range of facilities.




)

Driven by continually strong export growth, the South
China region registered an overall increase of 19 per cent
or 3.96 million TEUs in total volume of containers
handled. Throughput in Shenzhen recorded 31 per cent
growth while Kwai Chung recorded 11 per cent growth
compared with the year before. Shenzhen Terminals’
market share grew to 45 per cent while Kwai Chung’s
market share declined slightly to 55 per cent as at the
end of December 2004.

Modern Terminals' total throughput for 2004 increased
by 9.1 per cent or 362,000 TEUs against that of 2003.
This was mainly driven by feeder, transshipment and
intra-Asia volume. During the year under review,
operating cost increased because of the increased volume
of activities and higher depreciation charges incurred due
to the introduction of CT9. Despite the continuous
improvement in productivity, the increase in operating
cost slightly affected the company’s operating profit.

With continuous investment in hardware, software and
human resources, Modern Terminals’ productivity
continued to improve in 2004. With the delivery of four
CT9 berths to Modern Terminals, its operations in Kwai
Chung now consist of 7.5 berths, spreading over
Container Terminals 1, 2, 5 and 9, with a total handiing
capacity of 5.5 million TEUs. TEUs per headcount,

one of the main productivity benchmarks, improved to
3,630 from 3,365 a year ago. At the end of 2004,
Modern Terminals’ market share remained at about
one-third of the total market in Kwai Chung.

The Whart (Holdimgs) Linntest

as at December 31, 2004

HK$M
Fixed assets 4,982
interest in associates / jointly controlled entity 676
Net current liabilities (548)
Other non-current liabilities (366)
Net business assets (before debts) 4,744
Note® The Group's mvestment (ost in 55.34% of Modero Ternuiaty 1y HK$3,709 nithon

Modern Terminals’ total
throughput rose 9.1% to
4.35 million TEUs in 2004.
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With 7.5 berths spreading over
Container Terminals 1, 2, 5 and
9 in Kwai Chung, Modern
Terminals has a total handling
capacity of 5.5 miliion TEUs.

BUSINESS REVIEW ~ CHINA JIll WHARF CHINA LIMITED

Iin March 2005, 33 years after its operations began, Modern
Terminals celebrated the milestone of the 50 millionth TEU passing
through its facilities. Boasting advanced equipment and sophisticated
logistics system, Modern Terminals is poised to achieve better
operational synergy with the completion of berth consolidation and
terminal area expansion following the delivery of CT9.
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Chiwan Container Terminals, in which Modern Terminals effectively
holds an eight per cent equity stake, recorded a throughput growth of
880,000 TEUs (an increase of 60 per cent) to 2.35 million TEUs.

Berth 4 of Shekou Container Terminals (Phase Il), in which Modern
Terminals effectively holds a 9.8 per cent equity stake, commenced
operation in February 2004. Together with Berth 3 which
commenced operation in the third quarter of 2003, Shekou Container
Terminals (Phase 1) handled 1.07 million TEUs, an increase of 3.6
times or 841,000 TEUs when compared with the previous year.

Ali ongoing projects in China including the Taicang project in
Suzhou are progressing smoothly and on schedule. Taicang, a joint-
venture development with the Suzhou government, will become the
pioneer project leading off Modern Terminals’ expansion in the
Yantze River Delta.

Modern Terminals also entered into a joint-venture agreement with
China Shipping to explore investment opportunities related to the
Yang Shan project near Shanghai. A joint working team had been
established and a feasibility study on Yang Shan Deepwater Port
Project is now underway.

The market outiook for 2005 remains positive, with expectation of
strong double-digit growth in the overall Pearl River Delta area. Kwai
Chung will also benefit and marginal growth in terms of velume is
expected in 2005.

2003 2003
Container Handling Capacity (TEUs in miliions) 5.09 4.36
Throughput (TEUs in millions) 435 3.99
Headcount 1,199 1,186
TEUs per Headcount 3,630 3,365
Market Share 32.5% 33.1%

The Whart (Mokdougay G ) /

(above) At the end of 2004, Modern
Terminals’ market share stood at
about one-third of the total market
in Kwai Chung.

(below) Shekou Container Termimals
tPhase i) handled 1.07 miilion TEUs

in 2004.
2002 2001 2000 1999
4.20 4.03 3.70 3.40
361 352 3.36 2.82
1,176 1,179 1,184 1,294
3,072 2,985 2,840 2,177
30.3% 31.1% 28.9% 27.2%
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REVIEW OF 2004 RESULTS

Profit Attributable 1, Sharehgige
rs

The Group reported 3 profit attributape
of HK$724 million or 24%,
compared to HK$1.24 re

to shareholders of HK$3,767 million for the year of 2004, an increase

over HK$3,043 million achieved in 2003. Earnings per share were HK$1.54,
Corded in the previoys year.

The solid p“?f” growth was iE’rgely driven by the steady growth in retail rental income, recovery in the Group's
hotel operatlons from the Iy, 35€ result in 2003 improved profitability of i-CABLE and reduction in
borrowing costs. '

Included in the results were ”Oﬁ-recurrem provision write-backs of HK$108 million for the Group's certain
properties and of HK$442 Million for the Bellagio property project held by an associate. This was partially offset
by Wharf T&T's write-down, of HK$ 295 million for impairment of certain of its network assets. In 2003, there
Vvas total attributable impairme, Provision of HK$391 million, which comprised HK$306 million for properties
and investments and HKsgs Million fo fixed assets, though a deemed profit of HK$312 million, arising from the
distribution of i-CABLE shares 35 Part of tne Compalny's interim dividend for 2003, was reported.

Excluding the above-mentioned ”Oﬂ-recurring items in both years, the Group’s net profit would be HK$3,515
miflion in 2004, an increase of HK$393 million or 13% compared to HK$3,122 million in 2003.

Group Turnover

The Group turnover for the year was HK$11,953 million. an increase of HK$700 million or 6% over HK$11,253
million earned in 2003. The iNCrease in turn‘over was ch;eﬂy attributable to the improvement in revenue from
property investment by HK$37¢ Million, of which the hotel revenue increasing by HK$197 million. The hotel
revenue in 2003 was HK$533 Million, which was at an extraordinary low level as a consequence of SARS’ impact
during the year, compared to the levels of HK$730 million in 2004 and HK$616 million in 2002. The ‘
Communications, Media ang Entertainmeny (CME) segment also reported revenue growth by HK$266 million
mainty derived from the enlargeq

subscribers ang higher airtime sales of i-CABLE group.

o]

Group Operating Profit
Group operating profit before borr

Owing Costs for the year 2004 amounted to HK$5,252 million, ncreased by
HE3202 nillion or 4% from HK$5'050 million in 2003 primarily due to the favourable resilis of property
e timentnduding hotels ag xplaineq above. The r'owth also resulted from the mcrease i operating profit
<t the oy BV aned cedac tion in ope . 9

1ating loss of the Broadband business of i-C Al |
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SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

Property Investment

For 2004, the Property investment segment grew its revenue by HK$370 million or 9% to HK$4,645 million

over HK$4,275 million in 2003. Operating profit showed an increase of HK$202 million or 7% to HK$3,103
million. This segment had benefited from the record level of tourists from the mainland China and overseas

markets and the steady economic rebound in Hong Kong. The better business environments also stimulated

the retail leasing activities and supported the average rental reversionary growth in 2004. The improvement

was partly attributable to the lower base result for the hotel business caused by the SARS incidence in 2003.

Wharf Estates Limited

Harbour City

Harbour City, a core property investment asset of Wharf Estates Limited, generated a turnover of HK$3,061
million for 2004, an increase of HK$329 miilion over 2003 mainly derived from improvement in retail rentals
and hotel revenue.

2004 saw a healthy increase in retail rental of HK$161 million or 16% to HK$1,193 million. Benefited from
the boom in tourism and recovery in domestic consumption, which enabled the Group to further enhance its
tenant mix aggressively, high level of occupancy of around 98% was sustained throughout the whole year
with average rental rate improved. The office area improved its occupancy steadily to 95% with higher
average rental rate achieved by end of 2004 but recorded a decrease in rental revenue by HK$36 million or 4%
to HK$945 million, reflecting the adverse reversionary cycle caused by unfavourable rental rates achieved in
the past two years. The apartments reported a revenue increase of HK$7 million or 4% to HK$193 million
resulted from improving occupancy rate, which reached 83% at end of 2004. Hotel revenue increased by
HK$197 million or 37% to HK$730 million, backed by an average occupancy of 91% for 2004, significantly
jumped from 67% for last year. Average hotel room rate also reported double-digit growth in 2004.

Times Square

Times Square, another core investment property asset of Wharf Estates Limited, generated total revenue of
HK$837 million, which was slightly lower than the previous year's level by HK$4 million. Despite a steady
improvement in occupancy rate that reached 95% at the end of 2004, the rental revenue from the office area
was HK$237 million, a decrease of HK$19 million or 7% over 2003. This decrease, which was mainly due to
the adverse reversionary impacts of lower average rental rates achieved in the past two years, had been
substantially compensated by the improvement of retail area rental by HK$ 15 million or 3% from HK$585
million for 2003 to HK$600 million, as a result of healthy growth in average rental rate and occupancy level
sustained at high level of 96% throughout 2004.
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Plaza Hollywood

- Plaza Hollywood, under Wharf Estates Limited, reported revenue of HK$250 million for 2004, an increase of
HK$12 million or 5% over 2003 mainly because of higher achieved average occupancy at about 98% with
average rental rate being maintained at nearly the same level as last year.

At December 31, 2004, the aggregate property value of Harbour City, Times Square and Plaza Hollywood

- owned under Wharf Estates Limited was HK$59,980 million, based on the revaluation conducted by
independent valuers. This portfolio generated total revenue and operating profit of HK$4,148 million and
HK$2,875 million respectively for 2004, compared to HK$3,811 million and HK$2,683 million respectively
reported in 2003.

Wharf Estates Development Limited

Wharf Estates Development Limited owned various residential, office and industrial investment properties
located in Hong Kong. Owing to the encouraging performance of rental revenue of the Peak properties as
supported by the persistent upsurge in luxurious residential property market and the lacklustre results of its
office and industrial properties, the company’s aggregate revenue and operating profit for 2004 remained flat
over last year.

Wharf Estates China Limited

- With its two major investment properties in mainland China, namely, Beijing Capital Times Square and
Shanghai Times Square, reporting satisfactorily improved occupancy and rental rates, Wharf Estates China
Limited recorded double-digit growth both in aggregate revenue and operating profit in 2004. During late
2004, the podium area of Chonggqing Times Square, another investment property in mainiand China, was
completed for leasing.

Communications, Media and Entertainment ("CME")
Backed by continuous subscription growth in both Pay TV and Broadband business as well as the remarkable
increase in commercial airtime sales of i-CABLE, the total revenue of the CME segment rose to HK$3,844

- million, an increase of HK$266 million or 7% over HK$3,578 miliion achieved in 2003. The aggregate

: operating profit also recorded an increase of HK$24 million or 6% to current year's HK$456 million.

i-CABLE

Buoyed by an improving economy, the i-CABLE group reported another year of record profit and business
. growth despite intensified competition in its core market in 2004. i-CABLE's total revenue revealed an increase
of HK$229 million or 11% to HK$2,372 million and an increase in its operating profit before unallocated items
by HK$66 million or 18% to HK$425 million. The net profit of i-CABLE also increased by HK$64 million or
29% to HK$284 million, surpassing all previous records.
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Pay TV

Pay TV subscribers grew by 47,000 or 7% year-on-year to 702,000 as at the end of 2004, attributable to
exclusive broadcast of the popular EURO 2004 football tournament in summer and other programming and
marketing initiatives during the rest of the year. Further buoyed by the remarkable increase in commercial
airtime sales, the turnover of Pay TV for 2004 grew by HK$154 million or 9% to HK$1,888 million. Its
operating profit recorded an increase of HK$25 million or 6% to reach HK$469 million. ARPU also recorded a
year-on-year 2% growth to HK$225.

Internet and multimedia

internet and multimedia revenue for 2004 increased by HK$72 million or 18% to HK$481 mitlion. its
operating loss, on a full cost allocation basis for network cost, nearly halved to HK$44 million as compared to
HK$85 million in 2003. The improvement was primarily due to year-on-year growth in Broadband subscribers
of about 34,000 or 13% to 291,000 at the end of December 2004, largely resulting from picking up of
subscription in the second half through successful service enhancement and introduction of bundled packages.
ARPU also recorded a year-on-year 9% growth to HK$140 for subscribers renewing under higher price
retention plans, but downward pressure resumed in the second half of 2004.

Telecommunications

Wharf T&T

The economic recovery did not put the FTNS market back on the growth curve and continuing over capacity
drove competition even harder. n such circumstances, the company only managed to increase its
telecommunication revenue by HK$17 million or 1% to HK$1,252 million. Its instalied base of fixed lines grew
by 42,000 lines to 475,000 lines with market share of 12% as at the end of December 2004. The company's
revenue from fixed-line telephony services rose by 7% to HK$1,046 million, whilst IDD revenue declined by
19% to HK$206 million. The ratio between fixed lines and IDD improved to 5:1 for 2004, as compared to 4:1
for 2003. The operating profit, however, showed a decrease of HK$17 million or 31% to HK$37 million
mainly due to higher depreciation charge.

The combined turnover and operating profits of Wharf T&T and other telecommunication business was HK$1,286
million and HK$26 million, compared to HK$ 1,253 million and HK$35 miliion achieved respectively in last year.

Logistics

The Logistics segment with most of its contribution from Modern Terminals Limited (“Modern Terminals”), a
55.3%-owned subsidiary, reported an aggregate revenue of HK$3,347 million, represented an increase of
HK$126 million or 4% as compared with HK$3,221 million in 2003. The operating profit also increased by
HK$13 million or 1% to HK$1,840 million.
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Modern Terminals

Modern Terminals recorded a 9% throughput growth in 2004. However, the company’s total revenue grew by
3% only, given that the throughput growth was largely driven by lower-tariff feeder and transshipment
volume. Furthermore, as a result of the increase in operating expenses on higher volume of throughput
handled and higher depreciation charge on Container Terminal 9, which commenced operation in late 2003,
the company’s operating profit was slightly affected. Aided by the significantly higher profit contribution from
Modern Terminal's earlier investments in mainland China through its associates and the lower charge in Profits
Tax and deferred tax, its net profit after tax grew satisfactory as compared to last year.

Property Development

Wharf Estates Development Limited and Wharf Estates China Limited launched some minor properties for sale
in Hong Kong and China respectively in 2004 and they reported an overall break-even result compared to a
loss of HK$17 million in 2003. The sales of Sorrento and Bellagio residential units undertaken through
associates continued in 2004 and their results were taken up as the Group's share of associates’ profit other
than as the Group's turnover and operating profit.

Borrowing Costs

Due to a persistently low interest rate environment accompanied by its declining net debt level, the Group’s
net borrowing costs as charged against the results decreased by HK$241 million or 50% to HK$239 million for
2004 from HK$480 million in the previous year. The charge was after capitalisation of HK$25 million on
related assets for the year under review, compared to HK$54 million in the previous year. The Group's average
borrowing cost was 1.56% p.a., reduced further from 2.66% p.a. in 2003.

Net Other Charges

The net other charges recognised in 2004 amounted to HK$190 million, which included Wharf T&T’s write-
down for impairment of its fixed assets by HK$298 million that was partly compensated by a write-back
HK$108 million in respect of the Group's various properties.

The net other charges in 2003 comprised the deemed profit of HK$312 million arising from a distribution of
244.7 million i-CABLE shares by the Company as part of 2003 interim dividend, net impairment provision of
HK$276 million for properties under development, impairment provision of HK$58 million for investments and
write off of fixed assets of HK$85 million; all before deduction of minority interest.
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Share of Profits less Losses of Associates and Jointly Controlled Entity

The share of profits less losses of associates and jointly controlled entity for 2004 was HK$746 million, an
increase of HK$454 million over profit of HK$292 million in 2003. The increase was chiefly due to the
inclusion of an attributable provision write-back of HK$442 million in respect of the Group's one-third interest
in the Bellagio project. Based on the achieved selling price of the Bellagio Phases lil and IV, which was
launched in September 2004, and the prevailing residential property market conditions, the property.provision
of HK$1,327 million (HK$442 million attributable to the Group) previously made by the associate undertaking
the project was considered no longer required and hence was fully written back in 2004.

Excluding the write-back of provision, the share of associates’ and jointly controlled entity’s profits less losses
for 2004 would be HK$304 miflion, an increase of HK$12 million or 4%. The increase was mainly attributable
to the better profit contribution from sales of Bellagio residential units at higher achieved selling price than
previous years and the increasing profit contribution from container port business engaged by the associates of
Modern Terminals in mainland China. The increase, however, was considerably offset by decrease in profit
contribution from sales of Sorrento residential units, which had been substantially sold in 2003.

Profit before Taxation
The profit before taxation, which include the non-recurring items and provisions as stated above, increased by
HK$814 million or 17% from HK$4,755 million for previous year to HK$5,569 million.

Taxation

The taxation charge for 2004 was HK$953 million, a slight increase of HK$1 million from HK$952 million
recorded in last year. Excluding the effect of the 1.5% increase in profit tax rate on deferred tax liability that
increased total tax charge by HK$99 million in last year, there was an increase in taxation of HK$100 million
for 2004. Such increase was mainly attributable to higher taxable profits and tax provision for profits in
respect of prior years in which deductibility of certain interest expenses was under dispute with the Inland
Revenue Department.

Minority Interests

Minority interests were HK$849 million compared to HK$760 million in 2003. The increase arose mainly from
better results achieved by the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiaries including Harbour Centre Development
Limited and {-CABLE.

Included in the Group's profit attributable to the shareholders is profit of HK$1,178 million (2003: HK$1,051 million)
contributed aggregately from three major non-wholly owned subsidiaries, namely, the 55.3%-owned Modern
Terminals, 67.1%-owned -CABLE and 66.8%-owned Harbour Centre Development Limited. Total dividends
received from these subsidiaries amounted to HK$916 million for the year 2004 (2003: HK$891 million).
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Shareholders’ Funds

The Group’s consolidated net asset vaiue was HK$65,168 million or HK$26.63 per share at December 31, 2004,
grew from HK$51,628 million or HK$21.09 per share at December 31, 2003, respectively. The increase of
HK$13,540 million or 26% was primarily due to the net attributable appreciation of HK$11,183 million in the
Group’s investment and hotel property portfolios, on revaluation by independent valuers at December 31, 2004.

Supplemental Information

To better reflect the underlying net asset value of the Group, the following objective-base adjustments are
given below:

Per share
Book net asset value at December 31, 2004 HK$26.63
Add adjustments for:-
Modern Terminals
— based on the previous average transaction prices 2.37
i-CABLE
~ based on market value at December 31, 2004 (@HK$2.90 p.s.) LR
Adjusted net asset value per share at December 31, 2004 HK$30.11

Net Cash Generated from the Group’s Operating Activities

For the year under review, net cash generated from the Group's operating activities was HK$5.7 biliion, an
increase of HK$0.3 billion over HK$5.4 billion in 2003. The increase was largely due to the increase in
operating profit and reduction in interest payment. Net cash outflow of HK$0.6 billion was recorded for
investing activities, which comprised mainly the Group's capital expenditure aggregating HK$1.8 billion and
net receipts of repayments of advances of HK$1.1 billion from the associates undertaking the property
developments of Bellagio and Sorrento.
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Capital Expenditure
The capital expenditure, including programming library, incurred by the Group’s core businesses during the
year and related capital commitments at the year-end date are analysed as follows:

Capital Commitments
as at December 31, 2004

Business Unit/Company Capital Authorised Authorised
Expenditure And But not
For 2004 Contracted for Contracted for
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

Property investments/others
China 164 80 844
Harbour City 138 313 19
Other properties/others 123 272 -
425 665 863
Wharf T&T 309 81 67
734 746 930
Modern Terminals (55.3% owned) 571 472 422
i-CABLE (67.1% owned) 491 713 142
1,796 1,931 1,494

At December 31, 2003 1,676 1,099 1,419

The capital expenditure of i-CABLE and Wharf T&T mainly related to procurement of their network equipment
while that of Modern Terminals was substantially incurred for the equity investment of HK$0.35 billion in
Taicang port, Suzhou, mainland China and HK$0.22 billion for additions of plant and equipment and
construction of Container Terminal 9. i-CABLE and Modern Terminals, 67.1% and 55.3% owned by the
Group respectively funded their own capital expenditure programmes. The authorised and contracted for
capital commitments for the Group increased by HK$0.8 billion from HK$1.1 billion at December 31, 2003 to
HK$1.9 billion at December 31, 2004, which was mainly due to the increase in i-CABLE group’s commitment in
programming rights.

in addition to the above, the Group had planned expenditure at the end of 2004 of approximately HK$1.8
billion (2003: HK$2.5 billion) mainly related to the properties under development for sale in mainland China.
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Major Property and Investment Projects undertaken by Associates

Bellagio

Pre-sale of Bellagio residential units of Phases lif and IV undertaken by an associate, 1/3 owned by the Group,
was first launched in September 2004 with an encouraging market response. For the year under review, 684
units in Phase Il and 1V were pre-sold and 105 units of Phase | and Il were sold. As at December 31, 2004,
cumulative sales reached 1,690 units (or 99%) for Phases | and Il and 684 units {or 40%) for Phases lll and IV.

At December 31, 2004, the cash deposits in stakeholders’ account from pre-sale of Bellagio Phases Il and 1V
amounted to HK$0.6 billion, which would be sufficient to fully cover its outstanding construction costs for
completion of the project. The project company did not have any external borrowings at December 31, 2004,

As the Phases lll and IV are still at its development stage, a portion of the pre-sale profit was recognised
according to the Group’s accounting policy.

Sorrento
Sale of the Sorrento residential units undertaken by an associate, 40%-owned by the Group, is continuing.

For the year under review, 120 units of Sorrento were sold. At December 31, 2004, the 1,272 Phase | units of
Sorrento were all sold whereas 827 Phase 1l units or 97% were sold.

At December 31, 2004, the cash deposits in Sorrento’s stakeholders account amounted to HK$0.3 billion,
which would be sufficient to fully cover its outstanding construction cost for completion of the whole project.
The project company did not have any external borrowings at December 31, 2004.

Western Kowloon Cultural District Project (“WKCD”}

A consortium comprising the Group (40%), Sino Land Company Limited (40%) and Chinese Estates Holdings Limited |
(20%) has been formed and submitted a proposal to the Hong Kong SAR Government in respect of the WKCD.

On November 10, 2004, the Government announced that three bidders had been short-listed, including the
above-mentioned consortium. Public consultation exercises on WKCD are in progress. At present, there is no
firm commitment made by the Group.

Gearing Ratios

As at December 31, 2004, the ratio of net debt to total assets decreased to 15.4%, while the ratio of net debt
to shareholders’ eqﬁity also decreased to 21.6%, compared to 21.4% and 32.9% at December 31, 2003,
respectively. The Group’s net debt dropped substantially from HK$17.0 billion at December 31, 2003 to
HK$14.1 billion at December 31, 2004, which was made up of HK$16.4 billion in debts less HK$2.3 billion in
deposits and cash. Included in the Group’s debts were loans of HK$1.6 billion borrowed by a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, Modern Terminals {2003: HK$1.3 billion borrowed by Modern Terminals). These {oans are
without recourse 1o the Company and other subsidiaries of the Group.




The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Ay Bojuw Foind

Availability of Committed and Uncommitted Facilities

During 2004, the Group had prepaid and cancelled some of its loan facilities with higher interest margins
and/or shorter maturity. To take advantage of the ample liquidity in the local banking market, the Group
managed to obtain new banking facilities amounting to HK$9.8 billion, with tenors ranging from 1 to 7 years,

on more favorable terms.

The Group's available loan facilities and debt securities amounted to HK$22.8 hillion. Debts totaling HK$16.4
billion were outstanding at December 31, 2004, against the available facilities as analysed below:

31/12/2004
Available Total Undrawn
Facility  Debts Facility
HKS HK$ HK$
Debt Maturity Billion  Billion Billion
Company and wholly owned subsidiaries
Committed facilities
Repayable within 1 year 1.8 13 8% 0.5
Repayable between 1 to 2 years 1.9 1.9 12% -
Repayable between 2 to 3 years 2.9 2.9 18% -
Repayable between 3 to 4 years 2.2 1.9 12% 0.3
Repayable between 4 to 5 years 2.8 2.8 17% -
Repayable after 5 years 44 19 12% 25
16.0 12.7 79% 3.3
Uncommitted facilities 2.6 1.6 9% 1.0
18.6 14.3 88% 4.3
Non wholly-owned subsidiaries
- Committed and uncommitted
Modern Terminals Limited 2.9 1.6 9% .13
i-CABLE Communications Limited 0.6 - -% 0.6
Others 07 05 3% 02
22.8 16.4 100% 6.4
- Secured - - -% -
- Unsecured 22.8 16.4 100% 6.4
Total 22.8 16.4 100% 6.4
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As at December 31, 2004, a HK$34 million debt of the Group was secured by mortgage over a property under
development with carrying value of HK$271 million. At December 31, 2003, debts amounted to HK$414

million was secured by mortgages over certain investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$3,732 million.

An analysis of the Group's total debts by currency at December 31, 2004 is shown as below:

HK$ Billion

Hong Kong dollar 12.8
United States dollar (swapped into Hong Kong dollars) 36
6.4

The Group's debts are primarily denominated in Hong Kong and US dollars and all US doliars ioans have been
effectively swapped into Hong Kong dollar loans by forward exchange contracts.

The use of financial derivative products is strictly controlled. The majority of the derivative products entered
into by the Group were used for management of the Group’s interest rate exposures.

The Group maintained a reasonable feve! of surplus cash, which was denominated principally in Hong Kong
and US dollars, to facilitate the Group’s business and investment activities. As at December 31, 2004, the
Group also maintained a portfolio of long-term investments, primarily in blue-chip securities, with a market
value of HK$1.6 billion.
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FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued a number of new and revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards {(collectively, “new HKFRSs") which are
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005.

The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the accounts for the year ended December 31, 2004
and is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs. The Group has so far
concluded that the adoption of Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS”) 40 “Investment property”,
Accounting Interpretation 23 “The appropriate policies for hotel properties” and Accounting Interpretation 21
“Income taxes - recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets” would have a significant impact on its accounts
as detailed in the note 36 to the consolidated accounts.

The Group is continuing its assessment of the impact of the new HKFRSs and other significant changes may be
identified as a result of this assessment.

EMPLOYEES

The Group has approximately 10,904 employees. Employees are remunerated according to nature of the job
and market trend, with a built-in merit component incorporated in the annual increment to reward and
motivate individual performance. Total staff costs for the year 2004 amounted to HK$2,145 million, compared
to HK$1,999 million of 2003.

49




50 the What {Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

(A)  BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGERS ETC.

U]

Directors

Peter K C Woo, GBS, JP, Chairman (Age: 58)

Mr Woo has resumed the role of Chairman since 2002 after having formerly served as Chairman of the
Company from 1986 to 1994. He is also the chairman of Wheelock and Company Limited (“Wheelock”)
and Modern Terminals Limited (“Modern Terminals”).

Mr Woo was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in 1998 by the
Hong Kong SAR Government. He has for many years been actively engaged in community and related
services, both locally and in the international arena, and has held various Government appointments. He
has been the Government-appointed chairman of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council since
October 2000 and had served as the chairman of Hospital Authority from 1995 to 2000 and the council
chairman of Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 1993 to 1997. He is currently the chairman of the
Hong Kong Environment and Conservation Fund Committee set up in 1994 which he co-funded with the
Government. He also served as a deputy chairman in 1991 to Prince of Wales Business Leaders Forum, and
as a member of the International Advisory Councif of J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., National Westminster
Bank, Banca Nazionale del Lavoro, Elf Aquitaine of France and General Electric of America. He has received
Honorary Doctorates from various universities in the USA, Australia and Hong Kong.

Gonzaga W J Li, Senior Deputy Chairman (Age: 75)

Mr Li joined Wharf in 1980 as a Director and was appointed as the general manager in 1982. He
became Deputy Chairman and Managing Director in 1989, appointed Chief Executive in 1992 and
became Chairman in 1994. He relinquished the title of Chairman and Chief Executive and assumed the
title of Senior Deputy Chairman of the Company since 2002. He is also the senior deputy chairman of
Wheelock and the chairman of Harbour Centre Development Limited ("HCDL"), Wheelock Properties
Limited ("WPL") and Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited (“WPSL”) in Singapore and also the
chairman and chief executive officer of Wharf China Limited. He is also a director of Joyce Boutique
Heldings Limited (”Joyce”) and Modern Terminals.

Stephen T H Ng, Deputy Chairman and Managing Director (Age: 52)

Mr Ng joined Wharf in 1981 and became Managing Director in 1989. He has been a director, deputy
chairman, president and chief executive officer of i-CABLE Communications Limited (“i-CABLE") since
1999 and became its chairman since 2001. He is also the deputy chairman of Wheelock, a director of
Joyce and the chairman, president and chief executive officer of Wharf T&T Limited (“WTT"). He serves
as a member of the General Committee of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce.
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Paul M P Chan, Director (Age: 49)

Mr Chan was appointed an independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2004.
He also serves as a member of the Company’s Audit Committee. He is the managing partner of Paul
Chan & Partners, Certified Public Accountants (Practising). He is also an independent non-executive
director of publicly listed Proview International Holdings Limited, CITIC Resources Holdings Limited, I.T
Limited, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited and Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited.

Mr Chan is a graduate of The Chinese University of Hong Kong where he obtained both his bachelor’s
and master’s degrees in Business Administration. Mr Chan is a Practising Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"), the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA“), the Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong, the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries, and a member of the Macau Society of Certified
Practising Accountants.

Mr Chan has over 27 years' experience in accounting and finance field and is currently the vice president
of the HKICPA. He had been a former chairman of the ACCA - Hong Kong and a former member of the
World Council of the ACCA in the United Kingdom.

Edward K Y Chen, GBS, CBE, JP, Director {Age: 60)

Professor Chen has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2002. He is
currently the president of Lingnan University in Hong Kong. He is also an honorary professor and a
distinguished fellow of the Centre of Asian Studies at the University of Hong Kong, an honorary professor
of Shantou University, and a visiting professor of Jinan University. He was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong in 1991 and 1992, and a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from
1992 to 1997. He was also a member of the Hong Kong SAR Basic Law Consultative Committee from
1985 to 1990. He is a director of First Pacific Co. Ltd., China Resources Peoples Telephone Company
Limited and Asia Satellite Telecommunications Holdings Ltd. and a trustee of Eaton Vance Management
Funds. He is currently chairman of the Hong Kong Committee for Pacific Economic Cooperation.

Professor Chen was educated at The University of Hong Kong (Bachelor of Arts and Master of Social
Science) and Oxford University (Doctor of Philosophy). He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993
and awarded a CBE in 1995. In 2003, he was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal by the Hong Kong
SAR Government.

u
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Raymond K F Ch'ien, GBS, CBE, JP, Director (Age: 53)

Dr Ch'ien has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2002. He is the
executive chairman and chief executive officer of chinadotcom corporation, chairman of its subsidiary,
hongkong.com corporation, and chairman of MTR Corporation Limited. Dr Ch'ien serves on the boards
of HSBC Holdings plc, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Inchcape plc,
Convenience Retail Asia Limited and VTech Holdings Limited.

{n public service, Dr Ch'ien is chairman of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption; chairman of the Hong Kong/European Union Business Cooperation
Committee and is a Hong Kong member of the APEC Business Advisory Council. Dr Ch'ien is an
honorary president and past chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong industries. He is also president of
Hong Chi Association, Hong Kong's leading non-government organization helping mentally handicapped
persons. From 1992 to 1997, Dr Ch’ien was a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong, then
under British administration. He was appointed a member of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong
SAR on July 1, 1997 and served until June 2002. He also served as Chairman of Industry and Technology
Development Council from 1993 to 1999.

Dr Ch'ien received a doctoral degree in Economics from the University of Pennsylvania in 1978. He was
appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and a Commander in the Most Excellent Order of the British
Empire in 1994. In 1999, he was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal.

Erik B Christensen, Director (Age: 57)

Mr Christensen has been a Director of the Company since 2003. He has since 1997 been the managing
director of Modern Terminals, a 55.34% owned subsidiary of the Company, being one of the world’s
most efficient container terminal operators. He formerly joined The East Asiatic Company Limited
("EAC") in Denmark as a management trainee in 1965. Between 1970 and 1990, he spent eight years
in China and 12 years in Hong Kong - from 1983 as the managing director and chief executive officer for
the EAC’s group activities in China and Hong Kong. In 1990, Mr Christensen returned to Copenhagen,
and in 1995 he became a member of the EAC's group management board.

Hon Vincent K Fang, JP, Director (Age: 61) v

Mr Fang has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 1993. He also serves as
a member and chairman of the Company's Audit Committee. He is the chief executive officer of Toppy
Co. (HK) Ltd. and managing director of Fantastic Garments Limited.

He currently serves as a member of Legislative Council representing Wholesale and Retail in Functional
Constituency. He is a member of the Hospital Authority and Hong Kong Tourism Board. He is also the
chairman of Hospital Governing Committee of Princess Margaret Hospital and Kwai Chung Hospital and
the Quality Tourism Services Association. He is an honorary advisor of Hong Kong Retail Management
Association and a director of The Federation of Hong Kong Garment Manufacturers. He is also a Justice
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of the Peace. Mr Fang is a graduate of North Carolina State University where he obtained both his
bachelor’s and master’s degrees in Science of Textiles Engineering.

Hans Michael Jebsen, BBS, Director (Age: 48)

Mr Jebsen has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2001. He also serves
as a member of the Company's Audit Committee. He is the chairman of Jebsen & Co. Ltd. and also a
non-executive director of Hysan Development Co., Ltd. He currently holds a number of public offices,
namely, the vice-president and a trustee of World Wide Fund for Nature Hong Kong, the chairman of the
Friend’s Committee of the Asian Cultural Council Hong Kong, an honorary fellow and an appointed
court member of the Hong Kong University of Science & Technology, as well as a member of the Council
for Sustainable Development, Hong Kong European Union Business Co-operation Committee of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council, Advisory Council of Asia Society Hong Kong Centre, Asian
Cultural Council Board of Trustees and Advisory Board of the Hong Kong Red Cross.

Mr Jebsen was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 2001. He is a
graduate of the University of St. Gallen in Switzerland where he obtained his bachelor degree in
Economics and Business Administration.

Christopher P Langley, OBE, Director {(Age; 60)

Mr Langley has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2001. He began his
career with HSBC group in 1961, was appointed an executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Ltd. in 1998 and retired from the HSBC group in February 2000. Mr Langley is now
a director of Winsor Properties Holdings Ltd., Lei Shing Hong Ltd., Techtronic industries Co. Ltd. and
Dickson Concepts (International) Ltd. and also a director of Wing Tai Holdings Ltd., a Singapore publiciy-
listed company.

Quinn Y K Law, Director (Age: 52)

Mr Law joined the Company in 1983 and became a director of Wharf in 1998. His other key
directorships in the Whart Group include Modern Terminals, WTT and publicly listed i-CABLE
Communications Limited. He was formerly a director of Wheelock. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) in Hong Kong and also holds memberships in various professional bodies. He has been
serving on a number of committees of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Taxation Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and the Advisory Board on
Accounting Studies of The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr Law received his professional training in one of the Big Four accountancy firms and was qualified in
1977. Prior to joining Wharf, he worked in the then Securities Commission and two international
shipping companies in Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr Law has held in the Wharf Group various
executive positions including finance and administration. He is now the Director of the Cdmpany in
charge of corporate services and public transport activities.
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Doreen Y F Lee, Director (Age: 48)

Ms Lee joined the Company in 1984 and has been a Director of the Company since 2003. She was
appointed as managing director of Wharf Estates Limited and Wharf Estates China Limited in January
2005. She is also an executive director of Harbour City Estates Limited and Times Square Limited. She is
responsible for all the leasing and operation of the properties of the Group in Hong Kong, particularly,
two core properties of the Group, namely, Harbour City and Times Square and also the Group's Times
Squares in Beijing, Shanghai, Chongging and Dalian. Ms Lee is a graduate of The University of Hong
Kong where she obtained her bachelor’s degree in Arts (Hon).

TY Ng, Director (Age: 57)

Mr Ng joined the Company in 1985 and has been a Director of the Company since 1998. He is also a
director of HCDL, Joyce, WPL, Modern Terminals and WPSL in Singapore. He is an associate member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

James E Thompson, GBS, Director (Age: 65)

Mr Thompson has been an independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2001. He also
serves as a member of the Company's Audit Committee. He established his company, Crown
Worldwide, in Japan in 1965. He is the member of the American Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong
("ACC") and was appointed as the chairman of ACC in 2003. He also serves on Hong Kong - United
States Business Council, the Hong Kong Japan Business Co-operation Committee, and the Hong Kong
Korea Business Roundtable. Mr Thompson has lived in Hong Kong for 27 years and has served on the
Trade Development Council, the ICAC Advisory Committee as well as other government and charitable
committees. He was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 2003.

Notes: (1) Wheelock, WF Investment Partners Limited, Wheelock Corporate Services Limited, WPL and Star Attraction Limited (of
which Mr P K C Woo, Mr G W J Li, Mr S TH Ng, Mr Q Y K Law and/or Mr T Y Ng is/are director(s)) have interests in the
share capital of the Company discloseable to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).

(2) The Company has received from each independent Non-excutive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the Company still considers the independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

Senior Management

Various businesses of the Group are respectively under the direct responsibility of the Chairman, the
Senior Deputy Chairman and the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the Company, as hamed
under (A) (1) above. Only those three Directors are regarded as members of the Group’s senior
management.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES

At December 31, 2004, Directors of the Company had the following beneficial interests, all being long
positions, in the share capitals of the Company and of two subsidiaries of the Company, namely, i-CABLE and
Modern Terminals, and the percentages which the shares represented to the issued share capitals of the
Company, i-CABLE and Modern Terminals respectively are also set out below:

No. of Ordinary Shares
{Percentage of Issued Capital) Nature of interest

The Company

Mr Gonzaga W J Li 686,549 (0.0281%) Personal interest
Mr Stephen T H Ng 650,057 (0.0266%) Personal interest
MrTY Ng 178,016 (0.0073%) Personal interest
i-CABLE

Mr Gonzaga W J Li 68,654 (0.0034%) Personal interest
Mr Stephen T H Ng 1,065,005 (0.0527%) Personal interest
Mr Erik B Christensen 2,500 (0.0001%) Personal interest
MrTY Ng 17,801 (0.0009%) Personal interest

Modern Terminals
Mr Hans Michael Jebsen 3,787 (4.925%) Corporate interest

Note: The 3,787 shares regarding "Corporate Interest” in which Mr. Hans Michael Jebsen was taken to be interested as stated above was
the interest held by a corporation in general meetings of which Mr. Jebsen was either entitled to exercise (or was taken under Part XV
of the SFO to be able to exercise) or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting power.

Except as disclosed above, as recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO in
respect of information required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the SFO or
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers:

{i)  there were no interests, both long and short positions, held as at December 31, 2004 by any of the
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); and

(i)  there existed during the financial year no rights to subscribe for any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company which were held by any of the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company
or any of their spouses or children under 18 years of age nor had there been any exercises during the
financial year of any such rights by any of them.
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(C)  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

Given below are the names of all parties which were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2004, the respective relevant
numbers of shares in which they were, and/or were deemed to be, interested as at that date as recorded in the
register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO (the “Register”) and the percentages which the
shares represented to the issued share capital of the Company:

No. of Ordinary Shares

Names {Percentage of Issued Capital)
(i) Lynchpin Limited 171,974,029 (7.03%)
(i)  Star Attraction Limited 171,974,029 (7.03%)
(i)  Wheelock Properties Limited 173,652,029 (7.10%)
{iv) Myers Investments Limited 173,652,028 (7.10%)
vy Wheelock Corporate Services Limited 173,652,029 (7.10%)
(vi) WF Investment Partners Limited 1,051,765,051 (42.97%)
(vi) Wheelock and Company Limited 1,223,739,080 (50.00%)
(viii) HSBC Trustee (Guernsey) Limited 1,223,739,080 (50.00%)
(x) J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. 146,448,525 (5.98%)

Notes: (1) For the avoidance of doubt and double counting, it should be noted that duplication occurs in respect of the shareholdings stated
against parties (i) to (viii) above to the extent that the shareholding stated against party (i) above was entirely duplicated or
included in that against party (i) above, with the same duplication of the shareholdings in respect of (ii) in {iii), (iii) in {iv), (v} in
), (v) in (vi), (vi} in (vii) and (vii) in (viii).

(2) Due to the amalgamation of Bermuda Trust (Guernsey) Limited with HSBC Trustee (Guernsey) Limited into one company known as
HSBC Trustee (Guernsey) Limited with effect from January 1, 2005, the name of Bermuda Trust (Guernsey) Limited, which
appeared in the Register prior to January 1, 2005, has been accordingly amended to become HSBC Trustee (Guernsey) Limited.

Alf the interests stated above represented long positions and as at December 31, 2004, there were no short
position interests recorded in the Register.
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(D)  EXECUTIVE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME OF THE COMPANY

)

Summary of the Scheme

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

0]

®

Purpose of the Scheme:

To give executives of the Group the opportunity of acquiring an equity participation in the Company,
to continue to provide them with the motivation and incentive to give their best contribution
towards the Company’s continued growth and success.

Participants of the Scheme:

Any employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries holding an executive, managerial, supervisory
or similar position, including a Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries holding executive
office, who accepts the offer of the grant of an option in accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

(i) Total number of ordinary shares of HK$1 each in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”)
available for issue under the Scheme as at December 31, 2004:
106,732,831

(ii) Percentage of the issued share capital that it represents as at December 31, 2004:
4.36%

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme as at December 31, 2004:

Not more than:

(i) 10% of the maximum number of Shares available for subscription under the terms of the
Scheme; and

(i) in terms of amount of the aggregate subscription price, such amount of aggregate subscription
price in respect of all the Shares for which an emplayee is granted options in any financial year
as would exceed five times his or her gross annual remuneration.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option:

Within 10 years from the date on which the option is granted or such shorter period as the Board of
Directors may approve.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised:
One year from the date on which the option is granted.

(i) Price payable on application or acceptance of the option:
HK$1.00

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must or may be made or loans of such purposes
must be repaid:
Seven days after the offer date of an option.



5 8 The Whaerf (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

(E)

(m

(h) Basis of determining the exercise price:
Pursuant to rule 17.03 (9) of the Listing Rules, the exercise price must be at least the higher of:
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant, which must be a business day; and
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

(i) The remaining life of the scheme:
Three years

Details of Share Options Granted

Throughout the year under review, there were outstanding certain share options previously granted on
August 1, 1996 under the Company’s Executive Share Incentive Scheme to 12 employees (being -
participants with options not exceeding the respective individual limits) working under employment
contracts which are regarded as a “ continuous contracts” for the purposes of the Employment
Ordinance. Such options were exercisable during the period from August 1, 2005 to july 31, 2006 at an
exercise price of HK$25.00 per share, and on full exercise would require the Company to allot 400,000
new shares to the grantees. '

Except as disclosed above, no share option of the Company was issued, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or
outstanding throughout the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

0

w

the aggregate amount of purchases (not including the purchases of items which are of a capital nature)
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases; and '

the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented less
than 30% of the Group’ total turnover.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to paragraph 8.10 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

Five Directors of the Company, namely, Mr P K C Woo, who is also the chairman and a substantial shareholder
of the Company's substantial shareholder, Wheelock, and Messrs G W J Li, STH Ng, QY KLaw and T Y Ng,
who are also directors of Wheelock and/or subsidiaries of Wheelock, are considered as having an interest in
Wheelock under paragraph 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Ownership of property for letting and development of properties for sale and/or investment carried on by
Wheelock and subsidiaries of Wheelock constitute competing businesses of the Group.

The ownership of commercial premises by the Wheelock group for rental purposes is considered as competing
with the commercial premises owned by the Group. Since the Group’s commercial premises are not in the
vicinity of those owned by the Wheelock group, and are targeted at different customers and would attract
different tenants compared to those of the Wheelock group, the Group considers that its interest regarding
the business of owning and letting of commercial premises is adeguately safeguarded.

The development of properties for sale and/or investment purposes by the Wheelock group is also considered
as a competing business of the Group. However, the Group itself has adequate experience in property
development and is therefore capable of carrying on its property development business independently of the
Wheelock group.

For safeguarding the interests of the Group, the independent non-executive Directors and the Audit
Committee of the Company would on a regular basis review the business and operational results of the Group
10 ensure, inter alia, that the Group‘s development of properties for sale and/or investment and property
leasing businesses are and continue to be run on the basis that they are independent of, and at arm’s length
from, those of the Wheelock group.
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(G) DISCLOSURE OF CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below is information in relation to certain connected transactions involving the Company and/or its
subsidiaries required under the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange 1o be disclosed in the Annual Report and
Accounts of the Company:

(1) Realignment by Modern Terminals of its interests in the Shekou Container
Terminal Phases | and 11 (*SCT 1 & SCT 2%)
On April 1, 2004, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of Modern Terminals entered into certain agreements with
Swire Pacific Limited (“Swire”), P&O Overseas Holdings Limited (“P&0") and other parties for, inter alia:

(a) the acquisition from Swire a 7.5% equity interest in SCT1 in consideration of HK$203.18 million and
also the acquisition from P&O a 2.5% equity interest in SCT1 in the consideration of HK$67.73
million; and

(b) the sale to Swire a 15.27% equity interest in a joint venture company (“JV Co.") (representing a
7.48% effective equity interest in SCT2) in consideration of HK$128.44 million and the sale to P&O
a 4.18% equity interest in the JV Co. (representing a 2.05% effective equity interest in SCT2) in
consideration of HK$35.16 million.

Following completion of the transactions and certain further similar transactions involving the remaining
PRC shareholders currently contemplated, SCT1 and SCT2 would have substantially common ownership
which it is expected will bring more synergetic value and benefit to the future operations of both SCT1
and SCT2.

As Swire holds a 17.62% equity interest in, and is therefore regarded as a substantial shareholder of,
Modern Terminals, which in turn is a 55.34%-owned subsidiary of the Company, the relevant
transactions with Swire constituted connected transactions for the Cornpany under the Listing Rules.

(1) Sale of 39.08% Minority Interest in City Super Limited
By an agreement entered into on April 16, 2004, Wharf Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, agreed to sell, at a consideration of HK$15.2 million, to Lane Crawford (BVi) Limited
(the “Purchaser”), which is indirectly wholly-owned by a trust the settlor of which is the Chairman of the
Company, the entire issued share capital of Diamond View Limited, whose only asset is a 39.08%
effective interest in City Super Limited (“City Super*).
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Traditionally, retail business is not a core business of the Group. The holding of the retailing stake in City
Super, being the only retail investment held by the Group in Hong Kong, basically resutted from the fact

that the Group is desirous of securing City Super as an anchor tenant of Times Square and Harbour City
which are owned by the Group.

Ongoing retail expansion plans of City’Super inherently carry a certain degree of business risks and
necessitate capital needs which is not in line with the original expectation of the Group. With the
original objective of securing City Super’s tenancies well accomplished, the disposal of the Group’s
minority interest in City Super to a suitable interested party, such as the Purchaser, with strong and
reputable retail background represents a good opportunity for the Group to divest itself of this
incubatory investment.

The Group realised a gain of HK$2.2 million on the disposal of its 39.08% effective interest in City Super
to the Purchaser.

Acquisition of 30% interest in Kim Realty Investment Pte Ltd

On June 11, 2004, Wharf Estates China Limited, a whally-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement and a deed of assignment with WPSL for the acquisition of 30%
equity interest in Kim Realty investment Pte Ltd (“Kim Realty”) together with certain loans owed by Kim
Realty to WPSL at a total consideration of 5$2.04 million (the “Transaction”). Kim Realty owns a 50%
interest in Xiamen Dongfang Hotel Limited which is the owner of a 4-star hotel in Xiamen, Fujian
Province, called The Marco Polo Xiamen (the “Hotel”).

A hotel management company wholly-owned by the Group is at present the manager of the Hotel but
does not hold any interest in the Hotel. It is believed that the Transaction would add synergies and value
to the Group’s business of owning and managing hotels. The Transaction offers a good opportunity for

the Group to participate in the ownership of the Hotel which would reinforce its position as the manager
of the Hotel.

Since WPSL, publicly-listed in Singapore, is @ 75%-owned subsidiary of WPL, which in turn is a 74%-owned
subsidiary of Wheelock, and the Company is a 48%-owned associated company of Wheelock, the
Transaction constituted a connected transaction for both the Company and WPL under the Listing Rules.



62 The Wharf {Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

(IV) Tenancy Agreements with City Super
On January 5, 2005, a surrender agreement in respect of B101-B109, Basement 1, Times Square,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for early termination of the original tenancy with effect from December 1,
2004, and a new tenancy in respect of the same premises (the "TS Tenancy”) for the period from
December 1, 2004 to September 30, 2011, were entered into between Times Square Limited ("TSL"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the landlord and City Super as the tenant.

City Super undertook massive renovation of its store at Times Square and requested TSL to agree to
restructure the original tenancy. in consideration of City Super being one of the anchor tenants attracting
high level of foot traffic, and its substantial renovation plan for the store, TSL agreed to accepting the
surrender and reducing the rent for the two months ended November, 30, 2004 because the business of
City Super would grow after, and be benefited by, the massive renovation, and as a resuit, TSL would
received additional revenue in the form of increased turnover rent. Moreover, a fresh new look of City
Super would strengthen the upscale image of the Times Square shopping mall in the long run.

Also on January 5, 2005, another tenancy agreement in respect of Shops 3001-3002, Leve! 3, Gateway
Arcade, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong Kong {the “Gateway Tenancy”) for the period from December 15,
2004 to December 14, 2010, and a letter of agreement relating to future expansion of tenancy covering
Shops 3103-3104, Level 3, Gateway Arcade, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the period from
March 15, 2006 to December 14, 2010, were entered into between Wharf Realty Limited (*WRL"),
another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the landlord and City Super as the tenant.

The aforesaid agreements are regarded as connected transactions for the Company by reason of the fact
that City Super is 39.08% owned by Lane Crawford (BVI) Limited which in turn is indirectly wholly-
owned by a trust the settlor of which is the Chairman of the Company.

The estimated approximate annual base rents for each of the eight fiscal years ending December 31,
2011 receivable by TSL and WRL under the TS Tenancy and Gateway Tenancy range from HK$1.89
miliion to HK$23.25 million and from HK$0.56 million to HK$17.42 million respectively. The annua! cap
amounts adopted by the parties for each of the seven financial years ending December 31, 2011 for TS
Tenancy and Gateway Tenancy range from HK$54.16 million to HK$70.11 million and from HK$45.55
million to HK$67 .74 million respectively.

With ownership of properties for letting being one of the Group’s principle business activities, rental
income is an important recurrent income source of the Group. The stable and satisfactory rental revenue
to generated from the aforesaid tenancies are therefore beneficial to the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company during the financial year.

FREQUENCY OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

During the financial year under review, four Directors’ Meetings were held.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company has complied throughout the financial year with the Code of Best Practice as previously
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange prior to January 1, 2005, which
remain applicable to disclosure in annual reports in respect of accounting periods commencing before
January 1, 2005 under the transitional arrangement. Nevertheless, the connected transaction
regarding acquisition of 30% interest in Kim Realty as described above, being a matter involving
conflict of interest for Wheelock, the Company’s substantial shareholder, was not approved by a
meeting of the Company’s Directors in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of the
abovementioned Code of Best Practice, but instead was duly approved by Resolutions in Writing of the
Board of Directors of the Company.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Report and the Audited Statement of Accounts for the financial year
ended December 31, 2004.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND TRADING OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and those of its principal subsidiaries are set out on pages
115t0 117.

During the financial-year, more than 90% of the trading operations of the Company and its subsidiaries in terms of
both turnover and operating profit were carried on in Hong Kong. An analysis of the principal activities of the trading

operations of the Company and its subsidiaries during the financial year is set out in Note 2 to the Accounts on pages
88 to 90.

RESULTS, APPROPRIATIONS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group and appropriations of profits for the financial year ended December 31, 2004 are set out in
the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account on page 70.

Movements in reserves during the financial year are set out in Note 26 to the Accounts on pages 103 to 106.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of 32.75 cents per share was paid on October 19, 2004. The Directors have now recommended
for adoption at the Annual General Meeting to be held on Wednesday, May 18, 2005 the payment on May 25, 2005
to Shareholders on record as at May 18, 2005 of a final dividend of 36 cents per share in respect of the financial year
ended December 31, 2004. This recommendation has been disclosed in the Accounts.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in fixed assets during the financial year are set out in Note 12 to the Accounts on pages 96 to 98.
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BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFTS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of all such bank loans, overdrafts and/or other borrowings of the Company and of the Group as at
December 31, 2004 as are repayable on demand or within a period not exceeding one year are set out in Note 24 tc
the Accounts on page 102. Particulars of all other bank loans and certain other borrowings as at December 31, 2004
which would falt due for repayment after a period of one year are set out in Note 27 to the Accounts on pages 107
and 108.

Set out below is information regarding certain borrowings of the Group outstanding as at December 31, 2004, all in
the form of debt securities issued by wholly-owned subsidiaries of and guaranteed by the Company:

Description of Debt Outstanding
Name of Subsidiary/Borrower Securities Issued Principal Amount
(1) Wharf international Finance Limited US$ Guaranteed Series A Fixed Rate US$309 Million
Notes due 2007
(2)  Wharf Finance (BVI) Limited HK$ Guaranteed Fixed Rate HK$300 Million
Notes due 2005
HK$ Guaranteed Fixed Rate HK$600 Million
Notes due 2006
HK$ Guaranteed Floating Rate HK$340 Million
Notes due 2006
HK$ Guaranteed Floating Rate HK$ 100 Million
Notes due 2008
HK$ Guaranteed Floating Rate HK$100 Miilion
Notes due 2009
HK$ Guaranteed Floating Rate HK$200 Millien

Notes due 2010
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INTEREST CAPITALISED

The amount of interest (all being borrowing costs) capitalised by the Group during the financial year is set out in Note 5
1o the Accounts on page 93.

DONATIONS

The Group made donations during the financial year totalling HK$9.2 million.

- DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year were Messrs P K C Woo, G W J Li, ST H Ng, D J Lawrence
(resigned on January 27, 2005), P M P Chan (appointed on September 30, 2004), P M F Cheng (tendered resignation
effective March 31, 2005), E B Christensen, H M Jebsen, C P Langley, Q Y K Law, T Y Ng, J E Thompson, Professor E K
Y Chen, Dr RK F Ch'ien, Hon V K Fang and Ms D Y F Lee.

Mr P M P Chan, being appointed as a Director of the Company after the last Annual General Meeting, is due to retire
from the Board in accordance with Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of Association, and Professor £ K'Y Chen, Dr R
K F Ch'ien, Hon V K Fang and Mr C P Langley are also due to retire from the Board by rotation in accordance with

= Article 103(A), at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Mr C P Langley has decided not to stand for re-election.

| The other retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. None of the retiring Directors proposed for
; re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
i

K Under the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Chairman together with the Deputy Chairman and
Managing Director of the Company are not subject to retirement from the Board by rotation. As regards the other

; Directors (none of them holding any executive title of the Company) in office as at the date of this report, six of them

; will retire as Directors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on May 18, 2005 or will cease to be
Director before that date as mentioned above, and the remaining seven Directors will have their respective terms of

: office coming to an end by reason of retirement by rotation at the Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2006 or
B 2007 in accordance with Articie 103(A) of the Company’s Articles of Association.
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial
year or at any time during the financial year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRALTS

No contracts for the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the financial year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate, with the exception that there existed certain outstanding options to subscribe for ordinary
shares of i-CABLE Communications Limited (“i-CABLE") granted under i-CABLE's Share Option Scheme (the "i-CABLE's
Scheme”) to certain executives/femployees in the i-CABLE group, one or more of whom was/were Director(s) of the
Company during the financial year.

Under the rules of the i-CABLE's Scheme (subject to any such restrictions or afterations as may be prescribed or
provided under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange from time to time in force), shares
of i-CABLE would be issued at such prices, not being fess than 80% of i-CABLE's average closing price on the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options, and the relevant options
would be exercisable during such periods, not being beyond the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant, as
determined by the board of directors of i-CABLE. During the financial year, no share of i-CABLE was issued to any
Director of the Company under the i-CABLE’s Scheme.
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AUDITORS

The Accounts now presented have been audited by KPMG, Certified Public Accountants, who retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board
Wilson W S Chan
Secretary

Hong Kong, March 15, 2005
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Report of the Auditors

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE WHARF (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(INCORPORATED IN HONG KONG WITH LIMITED LIABILITY)

We have audited the accounts on pages 70 to 117 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principies
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the Directors to prepare accounts which give a true and fair view. in
preparing accounts which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, that judgements and estimates are made which are prudent and reasonable and that the
reasons for any significant departure from applicable accounting standards are stated.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those accounts and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the accounts. It aiso includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's
and the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disciosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the accounts are
free from material misstatement. in forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
December 31, 2004 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 15, 2005
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

For The Year Ended December 31, 2004

2004 2003

Note HK$ Million HKS Million

Turnover 2 11,953 11,253
Other net income 4 15 33
11,968 11,286
Direct costs and operating expenses ' (4,204) (3,910)
Selling and marketing expenses _ (577) (519)
Administrative and corporate expenses (534) (515)
Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation, interest and tax 6,653 6,342
Depreciation and amortisation (1,401) (1,292)
Operating profit 28&3 5,252 5,050
Borrowing costs 5 (239) (480)
Net other charges 6 (190) (107)
Share of profits less losses of associates 7 748 292
Share of losses of a jointly controlled entity (2) —
Profit before taxation 5,569 4,755
Taxation 8(d) (953) . (952)
Profit after taxation 4,616 3,803
Minority interests (849) (760)
Profit attributable to shareholders 9 3,767 3,043

Dividends attributable to the year 10
Interim dividend declared during the year 802 802
Final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date 881 685
1,683 1,487
Earnings per share 11

Basic HK$1.54 HK$1.24
Diluted HK$1.54 HK$1.24

The notes on pages 76 to 117 form part of these accounts,
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At December 31, 2004

2004 2003
Note HKS$ Million HKS$ Million
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
Investment properties 66,007 54,580
Other properties, plant and equipment 16,136 16,540
12 82,143 71,120
Goodwill 14 297 347
Long term deposit 15 156 ' 156
Interest in associates 16 1,583 2,075
interest in a jointly controlled entity 17 348 —
Long term investments 18 1,654 1,392
Deferred debtors 19 426 439
Deferred items 20 402 432
Deferred tax assets 28(a) 118 12
87,127 76,073
Current assets
Inventories 21 3,025 2,695
Trade and other receivables 22 1,248 882
Deposits and cash 2,209 1,512
6,482 5,089
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (4,618) (4,193)
Short term ioans and overdrafts 24 (3,236) (6,329)
Taxation payable 8(f) (750) ' (638)
(8,604) (11,160)
Net current liabilities (2,122) (6,071)
Total assets less current liabilities 85,005 70,002
Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 2,447 2,447
Reserves 26(a) 62,721 49,181
Shareholders’ equity 65,168 51,628
Minority interests 4,355 4,021
Non-current liabilities
Long term loans 27 13,206 12,345
Deferred taxation 28(a) 2,019 1,748
Other deferred liabilities 29 257 260
15,482 14,353
Total equity and non-current liabilities 85,005 70,002

The notes on pages 76 to 117 form part of these accounts.

Peter K C Woo Quinn Y K Law
Chairman Director
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Company Balance Sheet

At December 31, 2004

2004 2003
Note HKS Million HK$ Mitlion
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 13 13,829 13,656
Deferred debtors 19 382 382
14,211 14,038
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 22 1 —
Deposits and cash 1 2
2 2
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (20) (29)
Short term loans and overdrafts 24 {190) —
Taxation payable — (8)
(210) (37)
Net current liabilities (208) (35)
Total assets less current liabilities 14,003 14,003
Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 2,447 2,447
Reserves 26(b) 11,556 11,556
Total equity 14,003 14,003

The notes on pages 76 to 117 form part of these accounts.

Peter K C Woo Quinn Y K Law
Chairman Director



The Wharf (Hoidings) Limited Annual Report 2004 7 3

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For The Year Ended December 31, 2004

2004 2003
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
Total equity as at January 1 51,628 47,734
Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 26 10,900 2,133
Surplus on revaluation of hotel and club properties 26 283 68
Deferred tax on revaluation of certain investment properties 26 (139) (33)
Impairment of properties under or held for redevelopment 26 _ (315)
Surplus on revaluation of non-trading investments
— by Company/subsidiaries 26 232 412
— by associates and jointly controlied entity 26 1 1
Others 26 5 25
Net gains not recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account 11,282 2,291
Profit attributable to shareholders 3,767 3,043
Investments revaluation reserves transferred to the profit and loss
account on impairment in value of non-trading investments
— by Company/subsidiaries 26 — 33
Investments revaluation reserves transferred to the profit and loss
account on disposal of non-trading investments
— by Company/subsidiaries 4 & 26 (22) 13
— by associates and jointly controlled entity 26 — 1
Final dividend approved in respect of the previous year 10(a) & 26 (685) (685)
Interim dividend approved in respect of the current year 10(a) & 26 (802) (802)
2,258 1,603
Total equity as at December 31 65,168 51,628

The notes on pages 76 to 117 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For The Year Ended December 31, 2004

()

()

2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Cash generated from operations (Note) 6,288 6,219

interest paid (263) (574)

Interest received 43 161

Dividends received from associates 146 12

Dividends received from listed and unlisted investments 160 123

Hong Kong profits tax paid (704) (579)

Overseas tax paid — (4)

Net cash from operating activities 5,670 5,358
Investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets (1,346) (1,564)

Additions to programming library (78) (82)

Purchase of a subsidiary — 6}

Net decrease/(increase) in investments in associates 3 (124)

Investment in a jointly controlled entity (350) : —

Purchase of non-trading investments (18) (54)

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 22 19

Proceeds from sale of an associate 15 —

Uplift of short term deposits - 468

Uplift of pledged depasits - 293

Net repayment from associates 1,102 1,756

Proceeds from sale of non-trading investments 78 333

Repayment from deferred debtors 19 14

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (553) 1,053
Financing activities

Net drawdown of long term loans 1,161 382

Net repayment of short term loans and overdrafts (3.393) 4,361)

Advances to minority interests (3) (10)

Dividends paid (1.487) (979)

Dividends paid to minority sharehoiders (698) (688)

Net cash used in financing activities (4,420) (5,656)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 697 755
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 1,512 757
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2,209 1,512

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash eguivaients
Deposits and cash 2,209 1,512




NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations
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2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Million

Operating profit 5,252 5,050
Interest income (42) (131)
Dividends receivable from listed and unlisted investments (160) (123)
Depreciation 1.228 1,117
Amortisation 173 175
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 27 12
Other net income (15) (33)
{Increase)/decrease in properties under development for sale (231) 78
Decrease in properties held for sale 10 50
(Increase)/decrease in spare parts and consumables (7) 3
Decrease in investments in listed debt securities — 525
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (367) 131
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 438 (633)
Increase in deferred items (15) (1)
Decrease in other deferred liabilities (3) N
Cash generated from operations 6,288 6,219




()

O

7 6 The Whart {Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004

Notes to the Accounts

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which include all applicable Statements of Standard Accounting Practice and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These accounts also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out below.

Basis of preparation of the accounts

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the accounts is historical cost modified by the revaluation
of investment properties and hotel and club properties, and the marking to market of certain investments in
securities as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries and controlled companies
A subsidiary, in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is @ company in which the
Group, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the issued share capital, or controls more than half
the voting power, or controls the composition of the board of directors. Subsidiaries are considered to be
controlled if the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating
policies, so as to obtain benefits from their activities.

An investment in a controlled subsidiary is consalidated into the consolidated accounts, unless it is
acquired and held exclusively with a view to subsequent disposal in the near future or operates under
severe long-term restrictions which significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the Group, in which
case, it is stated in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
the same way as for investments in securities.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated accounts. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

In the Company's balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses
{see note 1 (f)), unless it is acquired and held exclusively with a view to subsequent disposal in the near
future or operates under severe long-term restrictions which significantly impair its ability to transfer
funds to the Company, in which case, it is stated at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
same way as for investments in securities.

ii. Associates and jointly controlled entity
An associate is a company in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

¢. Basis of consolidation (continued)

iii.

Associates and jointly controlled entity {continued)

A jointly controlied entity is an entity which operates under a contractual arrangement between the Group
or Company and other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that the Group or Company
and one or more of the other parties share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated accounts
under the equity method and is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the associate’s or the jointly controlled entity's net assets, unless it is
acquired and held exclusively with a view to subsequent disposal in the near future or operates under
severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the Group, in which case
it is stated at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the same way as for investments in
securities (see note 1(g)). The consolidated profit and loss account reflects the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition resuits of the associates and jointly controlled entity for the year, including any amortisation of
positive or negative goodwill charged or credited during the year in accordance with note 1(c)(iii). When
the group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the associate and jointly controlled entity, the
carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred obligations in respect of the associate and jointly controlied entity.

Unrealised profits and {osses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates and jointly

controlled entity are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associate or jointly controlled

entity, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Goodwill/negative goodwill

The Group adopted Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 30 "Business combinations” ("SSAP 30")
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants with effect from January 1, 2001. In doing
so the Group has relied upon the transitional provisions set out in SSAP 30 such that goodwill/negative
goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary or an associate by the Group prior to January 1, 2001,
representing the excess/shortfail of the cost of investment over the appropriate share of the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, has been written off against/taken to capital reserves in the
period in which it arose and has not been restated.

For acquisitions of a subsidiary, an associate or a jointly controlled entity after January 1, 2001, goodwill
is recognised as an asset and is amortised to the consolidated profit and loss account on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life. Negative goodwill which relates to an expectation of future losses and
expenses that are identified in the plan of acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which have not
yet been recognised, is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account when the future losses and
expenses are recognised. Any remaining negative goodwill, but not exceeding the fair values of the non-
monetary assets acquired, is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account over the weighted
average useful life of those non-monetary assets that are depreciable/amortisable. Negative goodwill in
excess of the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired is recognised immediately in the
consolidated profit and loss account.
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Notes 10 the Accounts (continued)

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

¢. Basis of consoliidation {(continued)

Goodwill/negative goodwill (continued)

On disposal of a controlled subsidiary, an associate or a jointly controlled entity, any attributable amount
of purchased goodwill not previously amortised through the consolidated profit and loss account or
which has previously been dealt with as a movement on Group reserves is included in the calculation of
the profit and loss on disposal.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists an impairment loss is recognised as an expense
in the consolidated profit and loss account.

d. Fixed assets

i.

Investment properties

Investment properties are defined as properties which are income producing and intended to be heid for
the long term. Such properties are included in the balance sheet at their open market value, which is
assessed annually by external qualified valuers. Changes in the value of investment properties are dealt
with as movements in the investment properties revaluation reserves. If the total of these reserves is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on a portfolio basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the consolidated
profit and loss account. When a surplus arises on subsequent revaluation on a portfolio basis, it will be
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account if and to the extent that a deficit on revaluation had
previously been charged to the consolidated profit and loss account. On disposal of investment
properties, the revaluation surplus or deficit previously taken to the investment properties revaluation
reserves is included in calculating the profit or loss on disposal. Investment properties with an unexpired
lease term of 20 years or less and where the likelihood of renewal of such lease is not probable, are
stated at carrying value less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment loss.

Properties under or held for redevelopment

Properties under or held for redevelopment for investment purposes are stated at cost, including
borrowing costs, or at carrying value less provision for impairment loss. These properties are reclassified
as investment properties upon issue of the occupation permit.

All development costs, including borrowing costs, are capitalised up to the date of practical completion.

Hotel and club properties

Hotel and club properties are stated at their open market value based on an annual professiona!
valuation. Changes in the value of hotel and club properties are dealt with as movements in the other
properties revaluation reserves. When a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged to the
consolidated profit and loss account, if and to the extent that it exceeds the amount held in the reserve

_in respect of that same property. When a surplus arises on subsequent revaluation, it will be credited to

the consolidated profit and loss account, if and to the extent that a deficit on revaluation in respect of
that same property had previously been charged to the consolidated profit and loss account.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d. Fixed assets (continued)

iv.

vi.

vii.

Broadcasting and communications equipment

Broadcasting and communications equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
provision for impairment loss. Cost includes materials, labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of such
equipment which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use.

Other properties and fixed assets held for own use
Other properties and fixed assets held for own use are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
provision for impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure relating to a fixed asset that has already been recognised is added to the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of a fixed asset are determined as the difference
between the estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
the profit and loss account on the date of retirement or disposal. On disposal of fixed assets other than
investment properties, any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to
revenue reserves.

e. Depreciation of fixed assets

"m.

Investment properties

No depreciation is provided in respect of investment properties with an unexpired lease term of more
than 20 years since the valuation takes into account the state of each building at the date of valuation.
Where the Group confidently anticipates being able to renew a lease upon its expiry, the renewable
period is included in the unexpired term for this purpose. The carrying amount of investment properties
with an unexpired lease term of 20 years or less and where the likelihood of renewal of such lease is not
probable, is depreciated on a straight line basis over the remaining term of the lease.

Properties under or held for redevelopment
No depreciation is provided on properties under or held for redevelopment.

Hotel and club properties

No depreciation is provided on hotel and club properties on leases with 20 years or more to run at the
balance sheet date or on their integral fixed plant. It is the Group’s practice to maintain these assets in a
continuous state of sound repair and to make improvements thereto from time to time and, accordingly,
the Directors consider that, given the estimated lives of these assets and their residual values, any
depreciation would be immaterial. Where the Group confidently anticipates being able to renew a lease
upon its expiry, the renewable period is included in the unexpired term for this purpose. The carrying
amount of hotel and club properties with an unexpired lease term of 20 years or less is depreciated on a
straight line basis over the remaining term of the lease.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e. Depreciation of fixed assets (continued)
iv. Broadcasting and communications equipment

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis on the cost of the equipment at rates determined by the
estimated useful lives of the assets of two to 20 years.

v. Other properties and fixed assets held for own use

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of all other properties held for own use over

the unexpired period of the lease. Costs of the buildings thereon are depreciated on a straight line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 40 years.

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis on the cost of other fixed assets held for own use at
rates determined by the estimated useful lives of these assets of three to 25 years.

f. Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current assets, other than properties carried at revalued amounts and deferred
tax assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is

recognised whenever the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
as an expense in the consolidated profit and loss account.

i. Recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.

ii. Reversals of impairment |osses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is reversed only if the loss was caused by a specific external event of an exceptional nature that

is not expected to recur, and the increase in recoverable amount relates clearly to the reversal of the
effect of that specific event.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

g. Investments in securities
i. Held-to-maturity securities are stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost less any provisions for
diminution in value.

The carrying amounts of held-to-maturity securities are reviewed as at the balance sheet date in order to
assess the credit risk and whether the carrying amounts are expected to be recovered. Provisions are
made when carrying amounts are not expected to be fully recovered and are recognised as an expense in
the consolidated profit and loss account for each security individually.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g. Investments in securities (continued)

Non-trading investments, other than held-to-maturity securities, are stated in the balance sheet at fau
vafue. Changes in fair value are recognised in the investments revaluation reserves until the investment 1
sold, collected, or otherwise disposed of, or until there is objective evidence that the investment is
impaired, at which time the relevant cumulative gain or loss is transferred from the investments
revaluation reserves to the consolidated profit and loss account.

Transfers from the investments revaluation reserves to the consolidated profit and loss account as a result of
impairments are reversed when the circumstances and events that led to the impairment cease to exist and
there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future.

Profits or losses on disposat of non-trading investments are determined as the difference between the
estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments and are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account as they arise. On disposal of non-trading investments, the
revaluation surplus or deficit previously taken to the investments revaluation reserves is also transferred
to the consolidated profit and loss account for the year.

Trading securities are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account as they arise.

h. Deferred items

Prepaid revenue expenses

Prepaid revenue expenses represent prepaid expenditure attributable to periods after more than one year.

Programming library
Programming library consists of presentation rights for commissioned programmes and acquired programmes
for showing on the television channels, and commissioned programmes for licensing purposes.

Presentation rights are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account over the licence period or over the estimated number of
future showings. Subsequent expenditure on programmes after initial acquisition is recognised as an expense
when incurred. Costs of in-house programmes are written off in the period in which they are incurred.

Commissioned programmies for licensing purposes comprise direct production costs and production
overheads, and are stated at the lower of amortised cost or net realisable value. Costs are amortised on
an individual programme basis in the ratio of the current year's gross revenues to management's forecast
of the total ultimate gross revenues from all sources.

i. Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs, including borrowing costs capitalised, attributable to
unsold units. Net realisable value is determined by the Directors, based on prevailing market conditions
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i. Inventories (continued)

Properties held for sale (continued)

The amount of any write down of or provision for properties held for sale is recognised as an expense in
the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down or provision
arising from an increase in net realisable value is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified as current assets and stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes the aggregate costs of development, borrowing costs capitalised and
other direct expenses plus attributable profit, less pre-sales proceeds. Net realisable value is determined
by the Directors, based on prevailing market conditions.

The amount of any write down of or provision for properties under development for sale is recognised as
an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down or
provision arising from an increase in net realisable value is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Pre-sale proceeds received and receivable from the purchasers of the properties under development for
sale are set off against inventories in the balance sheet. Profit on pre-saie of properties under
development for sale is recognised over the course of the development and is calculated each vear as a
proportion of the total estimated profit to completion; the proportion used being the lower of the
proportion of construction costs incurred at the balance sheet date to estimated total construction
costs and the proportion of sales proceeds received and receivable at the balance sheet date to total
estimated sales.

Borrowing costs relating to properties under development for sale are capitalised up to the date of
practical completion.

Spare parts and consumables

Spare parts and consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises alf
costs of purchase, cost of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location. Net realisable value is determined by the Directors, based on the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group defines cash and cash equivalents as cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financia! institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, which were within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as @ component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

k. Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary foreign currency balances and the balance sheets of overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The
profit and loss accounts of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the monthly
weighted average exchange rates for the year. Differences arising from the translation of the accounts of
overseas subsidiaries are dealt with in capital reserves and those arising from the financing of properties
under development by foreign currency borrowings are capitalised as part of the development costs. All other
exchange differences are dealt with in the consolidated profit and loss account. On disposal of an overseas
subsidiary, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences which relate to that overseas subsidiary is
included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Forward foreign exchange contracts and swaps entered into as hedges against foreign currency assets and
liabilities are revalued at the balance sheet date at the exchange rates ruling at that date. Realised gains and
losses on currency hedging transactions are offset against gains and losses resulting from currency
fiuctuations inherent in the underlying foreign currency assets and liabilities. Unrealised gains and losses on
tforeign exchange rate contracts and swaps designéted as hedges are included under the same classification
as the assets and liabilities which they hedge. Gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts and swaps not
entered into for hedging purposes are dealt with in the consolidated profit and loss account.

. Recognition of revenue
i Rental income under operating leases is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

ii. Income from sale of completed property is recognised upon completion of the sales agreements.

iii. Income from pre-sale of properties under development is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion over the course of development (see note 1 (i) (ii)).

iv. Income from communications, media and entertainment operations, logistics operations and hotels
operations is recognised at the time when the services are provided.

v. Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

vi. Interest income is accrued on & time-apportioned basis by reference to the principal outstanding and the
rate applicable.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

L

Recognition of revenue (continued)

vii. Interest income from dated debt securities intended to be held to maturity is recognised as it accrues, as
adjusted by the amortisation of the premium or discount on acquisition, so as to achieve a constant rate
of return over the period from the date of purchase to the date of maturity.

viii. Deferred revenue

income received in advance attributable to long term service contracts is deferred and recognised over
the contract period on a straight line basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the consolidated profit and loss account in the year in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or saie.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Income tax

i. Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the profit and foss
account except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which case they are
recognised in equity.

ii. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

iti. Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the tax bases respectively.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences refate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n. Income tax (continued)
The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences

arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and fiabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.

iv. Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred
tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the Company or the Group has the legatly
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additiona!
conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realfise and settle simultaneously.

o. Related parties
For the purposes of these accounts, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

p. Provisions
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Company or the Group ho, .
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of ccononm
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products, or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has chosen business segment
information as the primary reporting format and geographical segment information as the secondary
reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets
and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part
of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances and transactions are
between group companies within a single segment. inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as those
available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets (both
tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-bearing borrowings, corporate and
financing expenses.

Employee benefits

i. The Group operates the foliowing principal pension schemes
Defined contribution pension schemes
Contributions to the schemes are expensed as incurred and may be reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.

Mandatory provident funds
Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance are charged to the consolidated profit and loss account when incurred.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

r. Employee benefits (continued)

fi.

Defined benefit pension schemes

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension schemes is calculated separately for
each scheme by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and
the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at balance sheet date on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group's
obligations. The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a scheme are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service
by employees is recognised as an expense in the consolidated profit and loss account on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest
immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss account.

In calculating the Group's obligation in respect of a scheme, to the extent that any cumulative
unrecognised actuarial gain or loss exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair vaiue of scheme assets, that portion is recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating
in the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognised.

Where the calculation of the Group’s net obligation results in a negative amount, the asset recognised is
limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value
of any future refunds from the scheme or reductions in future contributions to the scheme.

Equity compensation benefits

When the Group grants employees options to acquire shares of the Company pursuant to the terms of the
Company's Executive Share Incentive Scheme, no cost or obligation is recognised at the date of grant.
When the options are exercised, shareholders’ equity is increased by the amount of the proceeds received.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

a. Business segments

Segment revenue

Segment results

2004 2003 2004 2003
i. Revenue and results HKS$ Million HKS Million  HK$ Million HKSE Million
Property investment 4,645 4,275 3,103 2,901
Hong Kong 3,688 3,552 2,793 2,745
China 227 190 58 51
Hotels 730 533 252 105
Communications, media and
entertainment (“CME") 3,844 3,578 456 432
Pay television 1,888 1,734 469 444
Internet and multimedia 481 409 (44) (85)
i-CABLE (before unallocated
jitems) 2,369 2,143 425 359
Telecommunications 1,286 1,253 26 35
QOthers 189 182 5 38
Logistics 3,347 3,221 1,840 1,827
Terminals 2,964 2,868 1,715 1,735
Other logistics business 383 353 125 92
11,836 11,074 5,399 5,160
Property development 193 188 — (17
investment and others 175 251 75 163
Inter-segment revenue (Note) (251) (261) — —
11,953 11,253 5.474 5,306
Unallocated income and expenses (222) (256)
Operating profit 5,252 5,050
Borrowing costs (239) (480)
Net other charges
Telecommunications (298) (85)
Property development 108 (276)
Investment and others —_ 254
Associates
Property development 649 255
Terminals 98 27
Investment and others 1 10
Jointly controlled entity
Terminals (2) —
Profit before taxation 5,569 4,755

(2003:HK$2,836 million).

Property investment includes gross rental income from investment.properties of HK$3,033 million
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2. SEGMENT INFORMATION {(continued)

a. Business segments {continued)
Note: Inter-segment revenue eliminated on consolidation includes:

2004 2003
HKS$ Mitlion HK$ Million
Property investment 80 91
CME 168 161
Logistics 2 7
Investment and others 1 2
251 261

Assets Liabilities
2004 2003 2004 2003
ii. Assets and liabilities HKS$ Million HK$ Million  HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Property investment 72,732 61,104 3,823 2,833
Hong Kong 63,457 52,552 1,632 1,654
China 5,346 4,997 2,066 1,067
Hotels 3,929 3,555 125 112
CME 5,511 5,909 1,174 1,218
Pay television 1,578 1,617 527 539
Internet and multimedia 804 881 152 182
i-CABLE 2,382 2,498 679 721
Telecommunications 3,047 3,340 453 465
Others 82 71 42 32
Logistics 6,713 6,002 2,630 1,962
Terminals 6,531 5813 2,584 1,927
Other logistics business 182 189 46 35
84,956 73,015 7,627 6,013
Property development 4,236 4,499 198 183
Unallocated 4,417 3,648 16,261 19,317
Total assets/liabilities 93,609 81,162 24,086 25,513

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-bearing borrowings, corporate
and financing expenses.

Included in the property development segment is the portion of the Group’s interest in associates
attributable to property development which totals HK$1,237 million (2003:HK$1,815 million).
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

a. Business segments (continued)

Depreciation

Capital expenditure and amortisation
2004 2003 2004 2003
jiii. Other information HKS$ Million HK$ Million ~ HK$ Million HK$ Million
Property investment 387 176 143 99
Hong Kong 181 131 92 53
China 164 31 16 15
Hotels 42 14 35 31
CME 834 1,054 994 973
Pay television 308 333 364 384
Internet and multimedia 183 174 247 244
i-CABLE 491 507 611 628
Telecommunications 309 517 354 338
Others 34 30 29 7
Logistics 575 446 264 220
Terminals 571 441 249 201
Other logistics business 4 5 15 19
Total capital expenditure/depreciation
and amortisation 1,796 1,676 1,401 1,292

The Group has no significant non-cash expenses other than depreciation and amortisation.

b. Geographical segment
During the year, more than 90 per cent of the Group’s revenue and operating results arose in Hong Kong and
more than 90 per cent of the Group's assets and liabilities were located in Hong Kong.




3.

OPERATING PROFIT

a.

Operating profit is arrived at after charging:
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2004 2003
HK$ Million HK$ Million
Depreciation

— assets held for use under operating leases 163 85
— other fixed assets 1,065 1,032
1,228 1,117
Amortisation of prepaid expenses and programming library 123 125
Amortisation of goodwill 50 50
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,401 1,292
Staff costs 2,145 1,999

including:

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes including

MPF schemes 69 68

increase in liability for defined benefit pension schemes (Note 30) 21 36
Auditors’ remuneration

Audit services 9 9

Other services 1 1
Cost of properties sold during the year 175 176
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 27 12
And crediting:

Rental income less direct outgoings 3,092 2,930
including:

Contingent rentals 190 104
Interest income 42 131
Dividend income from listed investments 53 47
Dividend income from unlisted investments 107 76
Directors’ emoluments

2004 2003

HK$ Million HKS$ Mififon

Fees 1 1

Basic salaries, housing and other allowances, and benefits in kind 29 28

Deemed profit on share option exercise —_ —

Contributions to pension schemes 1 1

Discretionary bonuses and/or performance related bonuses 27 16

Compensation for loss of office — —
Inducement for joining the Group —

58 46
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

3. OPERATING PROFIT (continued)

b. Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Included in the above bonus amount for 2004 is a payment of HK$10 million awarded to & director relating
to his service performance for the past 3-year period.

In 2004, total emaluments (including any reimbursement of expenses), being wholly in the form of Directors’
fees, were paid/payable at the rate of HK$35,000 (2003:HK$35,000) per annum to each Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company.

The emoluments in respect of the year ended December 31, 2004 of all the Directors of the Company in
office during the year were in the following ranges—

2004 2003
1 Bands (in HK$) Number Number
Not more than $1,000,000 8 9
$2,000,001 — $2,500,000 1 1
$2,500,001 — $3,000,000 1 2

[ $3,500,001 — $4,000,000 1 —
$4,000,001 — $4,500,000 1 —

; $5,000,001 — $5,500,000 — 1
: $5,500,001 — $6,000,000 — 1
$6,500,001 — $7,000,000 1 1

$8,000,001 — $8,500,000 — 1

$9,000,001 — $9,500,000 1 —

$11,000,001 — $11,500,000 — 1

$12,500,001 — $13,000,000 1 —

$15,500,001 — $16,000,000 1 _

16 17

¢. Emoluments of the highest paid employees
For the year ended December 31, 2004, the top five highest paid individuals are also Directors of the Group
and the analyses of their emoluments have been set out in Note 3b above.

4. OTHER NET INCOME

Other net income represents net profit on disposal of investments and includes a revaluation surplus of HK$22
million (2003:deficit of HK$13 million) transferred from the investments revaluation reserves.




BORROWING COSTS
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2004 2003
HK$ Million HK$ Million

Interest on:

Bank loans and overdrafts 90 233

Other loans repayable within five years 106 202

Other loans repayable over five years 9 —
Other borrowing costs 59 99

264 534
Less: Amount capitalised* (25) (54)
Net borrowing costs for the year 239 480
*  The borrowing costs have been capitalised at annual rates of between 1.2% tc 2.8% (2003:1.7% to 3.5%).
NET OTHER CHARGES
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million

Net write back of/(provisions for) diminution in value of properties held for

development and for sale 108 (276)
Net provisions for impairment in value of non-trading investments — (58)
impairment of broadcasting and communications equipment (298) (85)
Deemed profit on distribution of i-CABLE shares —_— 312

(190) (107)

SHARE OF PROFITS LESS LOSSES OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits less losses of associates mainly comprises attributable profits arising on disposal of Sorrento and
Bellagio residential units and terminal operations. The share of profit for the year also includes an attributable

write-back of provisions totalling HK$442 million previously made for diminution in value of Bellagio residential
units, based on the current achieved average selling price and prevailing residential property market conditions.

TAXATION

a. The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is based on the profit for the year as adjusted for tax purposes at the

rate of 17.5% (2003:17.5%).

b. Overseas taxation is calculated at rates of tax applicable in countries in which the Group is assessed for tax
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

8.

TAXATION (continued)

C.

Tax underprovision in respect of prior years is principally attributable to the deductibility of certain interest

expenses was under dispute with the Inland Revenue Department.

Taxation in the consolidated profit and loss account represents:—

2004 2003
HKS Million HK$ Million
Current tax
Hong Kong profits tax 702 760
Underprovision in respect of prior years (note c) 122 64
824 824
Overseas taxation 1 17
Overprovision in respect of prior years £)) -
816 841
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 125 (6)
Effect of increase in tax rate on deferred tax —_ 99
125 93
941 934
Share of associates’ Hong Kong profits tax 12 18
| 953 952

Reconciliation between the actual total tax charge and accounting profit at applicable tax rates

2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Million

Profit before taxation ) 5,569 4,755
Notional tax on accounting profit calculated at applicable tax rates 977 829
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 108 129
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (73) (117)
Net underprovision in respect of prior years 113 64
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 59 114
Tax losses utilised (231) (166)
Effect of change in tax rate on deferred tax balances - 99
Actual total tax charge 953 952

None of the taxation payable in the balance sheet is expected to be settled after more than one year.
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9. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Profit attributable to shareholders for the year is dealt with in the accounts of the Company to the extent of

HK$1,487 million (2003:HK$2,486 million).

10. DIVIDENDS

a. Dividends attributable to the year

2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Million

interim dividend declared and paid of 32.75 cents (2003:12 cents) per share 802 294
Distribution in specie in the form of shares in i-CABLE Communications

Limited ("i-CABLE Shares”) equivalent to 20.75 cents per share —_— 508

Tota! interim dividend 802 802
Final dividend of 36 cents (2003:28 cents) per share proposed after the

balance sheet date 881 685

1,683 1,487

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a liability at the balance

sheet date.

b. Dividends attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year

2004 2003
HK$ Million HK$ Million

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and paid
during the year, of 28 cents (2003:28 cents) per share 685 685

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the earnings for the year of HK$3,767 miliion (2003:HK$3,043
million) and the weighted average of 2,447 million ordinary shares (2003:2,447 million ordinary shares) in issue

during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on earnings for the year of HK$3,767 million

(2003:HK$3,043 million) and the weighted average of 2,447 million ordinary shares (2003:2,447 million ordinary

shares) after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The existence of unexercised options during the year ended December 31, 2004 (see Note 25) has no dilutive
effect on the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

12. FIXED ASSETS

Group
Properties
under or Broadcasting Other
held for Hotel and & commun-  properties
investment redevelop- club ications and fixed
properties ment  properties equipment assets Total

HKS Million HKS Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million

a. Cost or valuation

Balance at January 1, 2004 54,580 2,812 3,409 8,784 9,858 79,443
Additions 922 313 14 601 348 1,368
Disposals (40) — — (304) (122) (466)
Reclassification 475 (902) — {10) 427 (10)
Revaluation surpluses/(deficits) 10,939 (52) 339 —_ —_ 11,226
Balance at December 31, 2004 66,046 2,171 3,762 9,071 10,511 91,561

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment losses

" Balance at January 1, 2004 — —_ —_ 4,064 4,259 8,323
Charge for the year 39 — 12 727 450 1,228
impairment —_ — — 298 — 298
Written back on disposals —_ — —_ (296) (121) (417)
Reciassification — — — {2) —_ 2)
Revaluation adjustments —_ — (12) —_ — (12)
Balance at December 31, 2004 39 — — 4,791 4,588 9,418
Net book value
At December 31, 2004 66,007 2,171 3,762 4,280 5,923 82,143
At December 31, 2003 54,580 2,812 3,409 4,720 5,599 71,120

b. The analysis of cost or valuation of the above assets is as follows:—

2004 valuation 66,046 — 3,762 — — 69,808
Cost less provisions — 2171 — 9,071 10,511 21,753
66,046 2,171 3,762 9,071 10,511 91,561

If the hotel and club properties had not been revalued, the carrying value of these assets on the basis of cost
less accumulated depreciation would be HK$280 million.




The Wharf (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2004 97

12. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

Group
Properties
under or Broadcasting Other
held for Hotel and & commun- properties
Investment  redevelop- club ications and fixed
properties ment  properties equipment assets Total

HKS Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million HKS$ Million HKS$ Million

¢. Tenure of title to properties
(at cost or valuation):—
Held in Hong Kong

Long lease 51,122 58 3,740 — 3 54,923
‘Medium lease 8,524 1,287 — — 5,433 15,244
Short lease 1,775 _ 22 —_ 1 1,798

61,421 1,345 3,762 — 5,437 71,965

Held outside Hong Kong

Freehold 20 — — — — 20
Long lease — — — — 5 5
Medium lease 4,605 826 -— — 5 5,436

66,046 2171 3,762 — 5,447 77,426

d. Properties revaluation
The Group's investment properties together with its hotel and club properties have been revalued as at
December 31, 2004 by Chesterton Petty Limited, an independent firm of professional surveyors, on an open
market value basis, after taking into consideration the net income allowing for reversionary potential.

The surplus or deficit arising on revaluation less minority interests is dealt with in investment properties
revaluation reserves and other properties revaluation reserves.

e. Impairment of fixed assets
The value of properties, other than investment properties and hotel and club properties which are revalued
annually, is assessed at each balance sheet date for indications of impairment with reference to valuations
undertaken by management. Such valuations assess the recoverable amount of each property based on its
value in use (using relevant discount rates) or on its net selling price (by reference to market prices),
depending upon the anticipated future plans for the property. As a consequence of this exercise, at
December 31, 2004 revaluation deficits totalled HK$52 million (2003:HK$523 mitlion) of which HK$39
million (2003:HK$208 million) were recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

f. The gross amounts of fixed assets of the Group held for use in operating leases were HK$67,100 million
(2003:HK$55,727 miliion).

g. The Group leases out properties under operating leases, which generally run for an initial period of two to six
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease
payments may be varied periodically to reflect market rentals and may contain a contingent rental element
which is based on various percentages of tenants’ sales receipts.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

12.

13.

14,

FIXED ASSETS (continued)

h. The Group’s total future minimum lease income under non-canceliable operating leases is receivable as follows:—

Group

2004 2003

HKS Million HK$ Million

Within 1 year 3,066 2,878
After 1 year but within 5 years 3,433 2,994
After 5 years 107 135
6,606 6,007

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Milfion

Unlisted shares, at cost less provision 6,670 6,458
Amounts due from subsidiaries 31,621 31,236
38,291 37,694
Amounts due to subsidiaries (24,462) (24,038)
13,829 13,656

Details of principal subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 are shown on pages 115 to 117.

Amounts due from and to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and classified as non-current as these

are not expected to be recoverable/payable within the next twelve months.

GOODWILL
Group
2004 2003

HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Cost
Balance at January 1 and December 31 441 441
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at January 1 (94) (44)
Charge for the year (50) (50)
Balance at December 31 (144) (94)
Carrying amount
Balance at December 31 297 347




15.

16.

17.
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LONG TERM DEPOSIT

The Group has placed & deposit with a financial institution maturing in 2006 at a margin above market rates. The
deposit is credit-linked to investment grade debt securities, either issued by the Group or other corporations.

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES
Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Share of net tangible assets/liabilities) 27 (583)
Amounts due from associates 1,621 2,720
Amounts due to associates ' (65) (62)

1,583 2,075

Details of principal associates at December 31, 2004 are shown on page 117.

Amounts due from and to associates are classified as non-current as these are not expected 1o be recoverable/
payable within the next twelve months.

Included in the amounts due from associates are loans totalling HK$1,494 million (2003:4K$2,588 million)
advanced 1o certain associates involved in the Sorrento and Bellagio property developments projects, of which
HK$74 million (2003:HK$733 million} is interest bearing and HK$1,420 million (2003:HK$1,855 million) is
interest-free. The annual interest rates are determined by the shareholders of the associates with reference to
prevailing market rates which were between 0.6% and 1.3% for the current year (2003:0.8% to 2.5%). The
loans are unsecured and are repayable as may from time to time be agreed among the shareholders.

INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

Group

2004 2003
HKS$ Million HKS$ Million

Share of net assets 294 —
Goodwill 54 —

348 —

Details of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlied entity are as follows:—

Percentage

of equity

Name of jointly Place of Registered and attributable
controlled entity incorporation  paid up capital to the Group  Principal activity
Taicang International Container The People's  RMB450,800,000 28 Container terminal
Terminals Company Limited Republic of China operations

99
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

17. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY (continued)

18.

19.

20.

Taicang International Container Terminals Company Limited (“TICT JV*), a Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise
established with the approval of the Jiang Su Provincial People’s Government for a period of 50 years up to 2048,
is 51% owned by Modern Terminals Limited, a 55.3% owned subsidiary of the Group.

Notwithstanding the contribution of 51% of the registered capital by Modern Terminals Limited, the joint venture
agreement relating to the establishment of TICT JV stipuiates that all significant financial and operating decisions
of TICT JV must be approved by all of its directors. As neither the Group nor the joint venture partner have the
ability to control the board of directors of TICT JV and the economic activities of TICT JV, the Group accounts for

its investment in TICT JV as a jointly controlled entity.

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK§ Million
Non-trading investments
Equity securities
Listed in Hong Kong 695 761
Listed outside Hong Kong 868 548
1,563 1,309
Unlisted 91 83
1,654 1,392
Market value of listed securities 1,563 1,309
DEFERRED DEBTORS
Deferred debtors represent receivables due after more than one year.
DEFERRED ITEMS
Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Prepaid revenue expenses 244 275
Defined benefit pension scheme assets (Note 30) 31 15
Programming library 127 142
402 432
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21. INVENTORIES

Group

2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million

Properties under development for sale, less pre-sale proceeds received

and receivable 2,238 2,075
Properties held for sale 677 514
Spare parts and consumables 110 106

3,025 2,695

a. The properties under development for sale are expected to be substantially completed and recovered after
more than one year.

b. Properties under development for sale/held for sale are stated at lower pf cost and net realisable value. The

total carrying value of properties stated at net realisable value at December 31, 2004 was HK$1,288 million
(2003:HK$831 million).

¢. In 2004, provisions totalling HK$166 million (2003:HK$NIl) charged to the profit and loss account in prior
years for properties under development for sale/held for sale were written back as a result of the increase in
net realisable value of certain properties.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Included in this item are trade debtors (net of provision for bad and doubtful debts) with an ageing analysis as at
December 31, 2004 as follows.—

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million  HKS Million HK$ Million
0 — 30 days 159 355 — —
31 — 60 days . 328 154 — -
61 — 90 days 124 60 — —
Over 90 days 32 64 — —
643 633 — —

The Group has a defined credit policy. The genera! credit terms allowed range from O to 60 days, except for

pre-sale proceeds of properties under development, which are receivable upon completion of the properties
under development.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

23.

24,

25.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Included in this item are trade creditors with an ageing analysis as at December 31, 2004 as follows:—

Company

Group
2004 2003 2004 2003
HKS Million HK$ Million  HK$ Million HK$ Million
0 — 30 days 229 284 —_ —
31 — 60 days 132 66 —_ —_
61 — 90 days 93 54 — —
Over 90 days 193 198 — —
647 602 — —_
SHORT TERM LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS
Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
HKS Million HKS$ Million  HK$ Million HK$ Million
HK dollar fixed rate notes 300 800 _ —
US dollar fixed rate notes — 1,468 —_ _
Medium term note programme — 180 — —
Unsecured bank loans and overdrafts 2,936 3,881 190 —
3,236 6,329 190 —
SHARE CAPITAL
2004 2003 2004 2003
No. of shares  No. of shares
Million Million  HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$1 each 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of HK$1 each 2,447 2,447 2,447 2,447

Executive share incentive scheme

As at December 31, 2004, options to subscribe for 0.4 million (2003:0.4 million) ordinary shares of the Company
at a price of HK$25.0 (2003:HK$25.0) per share granted to a number of executives under the Company's
executive share incentive scheme were unexercised. These options are exercisable before July 31, 2006.

During the year, no options were exercised or lapsed (2003:options for 2,151,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00

each exercisable at a consideration of between HK$19.0 and HK$25.0 per share lapsed) (Note 31).
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investment
Capital properties Investments Other
Share redemption revaluation revaluation capital Revenue
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves reserves Total
HKS Million  HKS Million HKS Million HKXS Million HKS Million HKS Million HKS Million
a. The Group
i. Company and subsidiaries
Balance at January 1, 2003 7,742 7 30,009 (229) (482) 9,205 46,252
Revaluation surplus
— investment properties — — 2,133 — — — 2,133
— other properties — — — - 68 — 68
— non-trading
investments — — — 412 — — 412
Transterred to the profit
and loss account on
disposal of non-trading
investments — - — 13 — — 13
Transferred to the profit
and loss account on
impairment of non-
trading investments — — — 33 — — 33
Deferred tax on
revaluation of certain
investment properties — — (33) — — — (33)
Impairment of properties
under or held for
redevelopment — — — — (315) — (315)
Profit for the year —_ —_ — — — 2,769 2,769
Dividends approved in
respect of the previous
year (Note 10b) : — — — — — (685) (685)
Dividends declared in
respect of the current
year (Note 10a) — — — — — (802) (802)
Others — — —_ — " 43 (18) 25
Balance at
December 31, 2003 7.742 7 32,109 229 (686) 10,469 49,870
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

26. RESERVES (continued)

investment
Capital properties investments Other
Share redemption revaluation revaluation capital Revenue
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves reserves Total
HKS Million HKS Million HKS$ Million HKS Million  HKS Million HKS Million HKS Million
a. The Group (continued)
i. Company and subsidiaries

(continued)
Balance at December 31,

2003 and January 1,

2004 7,742 7 32,109 229 (686) 10,469 49,870
Revaluation surpius '

— investment properties — — 10,900 — — — 10,900

— other properties — — — — 283 — 283

— non-trading

investments —_ — — 232 — - 232

Transferred to the profit

and Joss account on

disposal of non-trading

investments —_ — _ (22) —_ - (22)
Deferred tax on

revaluation of certain

investment properties —_ —_ (139) —_ —_ —_ (139)
Profit for the year — — — — — 3,033 3,033
Dividends approved in

respect of the previous

year (Note 10b) — — — — — (685) (685)
Dividends declared in

respect of the current

year (Note 10a) — —_ _— — —_ (802) (802)
Others _ —_ —_ —_ 45 (40) 5
Balance at December 31,

2004 7,742 7 42,870 439 (358) 11,975 62,675

{Note)

Note: Included in other capital reserves of the Group are other properties revaluation reserves totalling HK$2,550 million

(2003:HK$2,267 miltion).
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Capital properties Investments Other
Share redemption revajuation revaluation capital Revenue
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves reserves Total
HKS Million  HXS Million ~ HKS Million HKS Milion  HKS Million  HKS Million  HKS Million
The Group {continued)
ii. Associates and jointly
controlled entity
Balance at January 1, 2003 — — — (1) — (964) (965)
Transferred to the profit
account on disposal of
non-trading investments — — — 1 —_ — ]
Revaluation surplus
— non-trading investments — — — 1 — — 1
Profit for the year — — — — — 274 274
Balance at December 31,
2003 and January 1,
2004 — — —_ 1 — (690) (689)
Revaluation surplus
— non-trading investments —_ — — 1 — _— 1
Profit for the year — — — — — 734 734
Balance at December 31,
2004 — — — 2 — 43 46
Total reserves .
At December 31, 2004 7,742 7 42,870 a1 (358) 12,019 62,721
At December 31, 2003 7,742 7 32,108 230 (686) 9,779 49,181
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

26. RESERVES (continued)

Capital Other
Share redemption capital Revenue
premium reserves reserves reserves Total

HKS$ Million HKS$ Million HKS Million HKS Million HKS$ Million

b. The Company

Balance at January 1, 2003 7,742 7 306 2,502 10,557
Profit for the year — — — 2,486 2,486
Dividends approved in respect

of the previous year (Note 10b) — — — (685) (685)
Dividends declared in respect .

of the current year (Note 10a) — —_ — (802) (802)
Balance at December 31, 2003

and January 1, 2004 7.742 7 306 3,501 11,556
Profit for the year _— —_ —_ 1,487 1,487
Dividend approved in respect

of the previous year (Note 10b) — - — (685) (685)
Dividend declared in respect

of the current year (Note 10a) — —_ —_ (802) (802)
Balance at December 31, 2004 7,742 7 306 3,501 11,556

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to shareholders at December 31, 2004 amounted to HK$3,501
million (2003:HK$3,501 million).

The application of the share premium account and capital redemption reserves are governed by Section 48B and
Section 49 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The revaluation reserves have been set up and
will be dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for the revaluation of investment
properties, hotel and club properties and non-trading investments.

After the balance sheet date the Directors proposed a final dividend of 36 cents per share (2003:28 cents per
share) amounting to HK$881 million (2003:HK$685 million). This dividend has not been recognised as a liability
at the balance sheet date.
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Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
HKS Million HKS Million  HK$ Million HK$ Million
Bonds and notes (unsecured)
HK dollar fixed rate notes due 2004 _ 800 — —
HK dollar fixed rate notes due 2005 300 300 — -
US doflar fixed rate notes due 2004 — 1,468 — —
US doliar fixed rate notes due 2007 2,412 2,412 — —
2,712 4,980 — —
Medium term note programme (unsecured)
HK dollar fixed rate notes due 2004 - 180 —_ —
HK dollar fixed rate notes due 2006 600 600 — —
HK dollar floating rate notes due 2006 340 — - —_
HK dollar floating rate notes due 2008 100 100 —_ —
HK dollar floating rate notes due 2009 100 — - —
HK dollar floating rate notes due 2010 200 — — —
1,340 880 — —
Bank loans (secured)
Due after more than 1 year but not
exceeding 2 years —_ 377 — -
Due after more than 2 years but not
exceeding 5 years 34 37 - —_
34 414 — —
Bank loans (unsecured)
Due within 1 year 2,936 3,881 190 —
Due after more than 1 year but not
exceeding 2 years 1,327 1,000 - —
Due after more than 2 years but not
exceeding 5 years 6,362 7,519 — —
Due after more than 5 years 1,731 — — —
12,356 12,400 190 —
Total loans 16,442 18,674 190 —
Less: Amounts due within 1 year (Note 24) (3,236) (6,329) (190) —
Total long term loans 13,206 12,345 — —
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

27. LONG TERM LOANS (continued)

a. Asat December 31, 2004, the Group's net debts, representing the total loans less deposits and cash, are
analysed as foliows:—

2004 2003

HK$ Million HKS$ Million

Secured 34 414
Bank loans 34 414
Unsecured 16,408 18,260
Bonds and notes 2,712 4,980
Medium term note programme 1,340 880
Bank loans 12,356 12,400
Total loans 16,442 18,674
Long term deposit (156) (156)
Deposits and cash (2.209) (1,512)
14,077 17,006

b. As the Group's borrowings are primarily denominated in Hong Kong and US doliars and the US doliar loans
have fully been effectively swapped into Hong Kong dollar loans by forward exchange contracts, there is no
significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

¢. Over 90% of the bonds and notes either bear interest at floating rates or have been swapped 1o floating rates
determined by reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or the London interbank Offered Rate.

d. Included in the Group’s total loans are bank loans totalling HK$1,597 million borrowed by a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, Modern Terminals Limited (2003:HK$ 1,300 million). The loans are without recourse to the
Company and other subsidiaries.

28. DEFERRED TAXATION

a. Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet:—

Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Deferred tax liabilities 2,019 1,748
Deferred tax assets (118) (112)
Net deferred tax liabilities 1,901 1,636
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows.—

Depreciation
allowances in

excess of the Future
related Revaluation benefit of
depreciation of properties Others tax losses Total

HKS Million HKS Million HKS$ Million HKS Million HKS Million

Balance at January 1, 2003 1,728 327 (109) (440) 1,506
Charged/(credited) to the
consolidated profit and 10ss

account (12) —_ 121 (115) (6)
Charged to reserves/
minority interests — 37 — — 37

Effect of change in tax rate-
charged to the consolidated
profit and loss account 150 —_ (10) 41 99

Balance at December 31, 2003

and January 1, 2004 1,866 364 2 (596) 1,636
Charged/(credited} to the

consolidated profit and loss

account 114 — (2) 13 125
Charged to reserves/

minority interests —_ 140 — — 140
Balance at December 31, 2004 1,980 504 — (583) 1,901

b. Deferred tax assets unrecognised

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:—

2004 2003
HKS$ Million HKS$ Million

(Deductible)/taxable temporary differences {2) 1
Future benefit of tax losses (1,457) (1,512)
Net deferred tax assets unrecognised (1,459) (1,511)

The Group has not accounted for the deferred taxation assets attributable to the future benefit of tax losses
sustained in the operations of certain subsidiaries as the availability of future taxable profits against which the
assets can be utilised is uncertain at December 31, 2004. The tax losses arising from Hong Kong operations
do not expire under current tax legisiation. The tax losses arising from Mainland China operations expire five
years after the relevant accounting year end date.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

29. OTHER DEFERRED LIABILITIES

30.

Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Club debentures (non-interest bearing) due after more than 5 years 222 224
Deferred revenue 25 22
Others 10 14
257 260

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES

Group
2004 2003
HKS$ Million HKE Million
Defined benefit pension scheme assets 31 15

The Group makes contributions to six defined benefit pension schemes that provide pension benefits for
employees upon retirement. The assets of the schemes are held separately by independently administered funds.
The schemes are funded by contributions from employers, which are in accordance with recommendations made
by actuaries based on their valuation of the schemes. The latest valuations of the schemes as at December 31,
2004 were performed either by HSBC Life (International) Limited, Watson Wyatt Hong Kong Limited, who are
independent qualified actuaries or internally, using the projected unit credit method. The funding ratios of the

principal schemes were 104% and 123% respectively.

a. The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows:—

2004 2003

HK$ Million HK$ Million
Present value of funded obligations (719) (664)
Fair value of plan assets 805 709
Net unrecognised actuarial gains (70) (52)
Unrecognised transitionat liability 15 22
31 15

Movements in the net assets in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:—

2004 2003

HKS$ Million HK$ Million

At January 1 15 14
Contributions paid 37 37
Expense recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account 21) (36)
At December 31 31 15
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DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES (continued)

¢. Expenses recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account are as follows:—

2004 2003
HKS$ Million HK$ Million

Current service cost 31 34
Interest cost 31 34
Expected return on scheme assets (48) (40)
Net transitional liability recognised 7 8

21 36

The expense is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated profit and loss account:—

Direct costs and operating expenses 20 34
Administrative and corporate expenses 1 2

21 36
Actual return on scheme assets (91) (126)

d. The principal actuarial assumptions used as at December 31, 2004 (expressed as a range) are

as follows:—
2004 2003
Discount rate at December 31 » 4.0%-5.0% 5.0%~5.5%
Expected rate of return on scheme assets 5.0%-8.0% 5.0%~7.0%
Future salary increases — 2004 N/A 2.0%~3.5%
— 2005 2.0%~5.0% 2.0%~3.5%
— 2006 2.0%~3.0% 3.5%-4.0%
— thereafter 2.0%-4.0% 3.5%-4.0%

EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on June 30, 1998, to replace a former scheme
previously adopted on September 29, 1988, whereby the Directors of the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite employees, including directors, of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries to take up
options to subscribe for shares of the Company (the “Shares”). The exercise price of the options must be at least
the higher of (i} the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. Options under the share option scheme
are exercisable during such period as determined by the Directors prior to the grant of the option provided that
no option may be granted which is exercisable earlier than one year from the date of grant or later than 10 years
after such date.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

31. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS (continued)

a. Movement in share options

2004 2003
Number Number
At January 1 400,000 2,551,000
Lapsed —_ (2,151,000)
At December 31 400,000 400,000

Options vested at December 31 — —

b. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, no options were granted to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company under the Company's Executive Share Incentive Scheme.

¢. Terms of share options at the balance sheet date

2004 2003
Exercise period Exercise price Number Number
8/172005 — 7/31/2006 HK$25.00 400,000 400,000

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, no options were exercised to subscribe for ordinary
shares under the Company’s Executive Share Incentive Scheme.

e el b

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for the transactions noted below, the Group and the Company have not been a party to any material
related party transaction during the year ended December 31, 2004.—

a. Asdisclosed in Note 16, loans totalling HK$ 1,494 million (2003:HK$2,588 million) advanced by the Group to certain
associates involved in the Sorrento and Bellagio property developments projects are considered to be related party

T transactions and also constitute connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules. Waivers were granted by

the Stock Exchange in 1997 and 1994 from complying with the relevant connected transaction requirements. The

net interest earned by the Group from these loans during the year is not material in the context of these accounts.

[y
L

b. Asdisclosed in Note 33b, the Company and a subsidiary, together with its principal shareholder and two of
its subsidiaries, have jointly and severally guaranteed the performance and observance of the terms by a
subsidiary of the associate under an agreement to develop the Sorrento property development project.

Such guarantees given by the Company constitute connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules,

but a waiver from complying with the relevant connected transaction requirements was granted by the Stock
Exchange in 1997.

¢. Inrespect of the year ended December 31, 2004, the Group earned rental income totalling HK$135 million
(2003:HK3$105 million) from various tenants which are wholly owned by, or are non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of, companies which in turn are wholly owned by the family interests of, or by a trust the settlor
of which is, the Chairman of the Company. Such transactions are considered to be related party transactions
® and also constitute connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at December 31, 2004:—

a. There were contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees given by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries
relating to overdrafts, short term loans and credit facilities, bonds and notes of up to HK$23,128 million
(2003:HK$28,562 million). :

b. The Company and a subsidiary together with its principal shareholder and two subsidiaries thereof, have
jointly and severally guaranteed the performance and observance of the terms under an agreement for the
Sorrento property development project by the subsidiary of an associate.

¢. Forward foreign exchange contracts amounting to HK$4,238 million (2003:HK$5,616 million) will mature
in 2005.

34. COMMITMENTS

Group

2004 2003
HK$ Million HK$ Million

a. Capital commitments
Planned capital expenditure:

Authorised and contracted for 1,931 1,099
Authorised but not contracted for 1,494 1,419
3,425 2,518

b. Other commitments
Planned expenditure mainly relating to properties under development for
sale in Mainland China:

Authorised and contracted for 332 62
Authorised but not contracted for 1,497 2,393
1,829 2,455

35. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

After the balance sheet date the Directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in Note 10.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)

36.

37.

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For full convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards, the Hong Kong institute of Certified Public
Accountants has issued a number of new and revised Hong Keng Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (collectively, “new HKFRSs") which are effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2005.

The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the accounts for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The Group has made a preliminary assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs and has so far concluded that
the adoption of Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS”) 40 “Investment property”, HKAS Interpretation 23
“The appropriate policies for hotel properties” and Accounting Interpretation 21 “Income taxes — recovery of
revalued non-depreciable assets” will have a significant impact on its consolidated accounts as set out below:—

a. At present, the Group records its hotel properties at valuation in accordance with Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice, (“SSAP”) 17 "Property, plant and equipment”. No depreciation is provided on hotel
properties as they are maintained in a continuous state of sound repair such that, given the estimated life of
the hotel properties and their residual values, any depreciation would be immaterial. For the financial year
beginning January 1, 2005, the Group will adopt the requirements of HKAS Interpretation 23 and apply them
retrospectively. The Group's hote! properties will be stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. The adoption of this new accounting interpretation at December 31, 2004 would have
had the effect of reducing the Group’s net assets by approximately HK$2.9 billion or HK$1.17 per share at
December 31, 2004, mainly as a result of the reversal of revaluations of hotel properties dealt with in other
capital reserves. The preliminary assessment indicates that the annual depreciation on the Group’s hotel
properties on adoption of this new accounting interpretation will be less than HK$30 million in 2005.

b. At present, surpluses or deficits arising on the annual revaluation of the Group's investment properties to
open market value at the balance sheet date are dealt with in the investment properties revaluation reserves.
Following the adoption of the new HKAS 40, the Group's investment properties will continue to be stated at
open market value and all surpluses/deficits arising from the revaluation of the investment properties will be
reported in the consolidated profit and loss account. The new HKAS 40 and Accounting Interpretation 21
“Income taxes — recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets” require the provision of deferred tax on all
these revaluation surpluses/deficits to be calculated at applicable profits tax rates. If these revised accounting
standards had been adopted as at December 31, 2004, the Group's profit attributable to shareholders would
have been increased by HK$8.9 billion, being the net revaluation surpluses arising on the Group's investment
properties of HK$10.9 billion which have been dealt with in investment properties revaluation reserves less
deferred tax of HK$2.0 billion. Furthermore, recognition of deferred tax on the Group’s cumulative properties
revaluation surpluses is required and hence the Group's net assets as at December 31, 2004 would have
reduced by approximately HK$7.4 billion.

The Group is continuing its assessment of the impact of the new HKFRSs and other significant changes may be
identified as a result of this assessment.

APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

The accounts were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on March 15, 2005.
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Principal Subsidiaries and Associates

At December 31, 2004

Issued share capital
{all being ordinary

shares and fully paid

Percentage of

Place of up except otherwise equity
incorporation/ stated)/registered attributable to
Subsidiaries operation and paid up capital the Group Principal activities
Wharf Estates Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$ 1 shares 100 Holding company
Harbour City
Harbour City Estates Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property and
property management
Wharf Realty Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property
Harbour Centre Development Limited Hong Kong 315,000,000 67 Holding company
HK$0.5 shares
Times Square
Times Square Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 shares 100 Property and
property management
Plaza Hollywood
Plaza Hollywood Limited (formerly Charris Hong Kong 10,000 100 Property
Company Limited) HK$1 shares
Plaza Hollywood Management Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property management
Wharf Estates Develapment Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Holding company
Delta Realty Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property
feckenham Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 shares 100 Property
Framenti Company Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property
HKRT Peak Properties Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 100 Property
HK$10 shares
Hong Tai Yuen Limited Hong Kong 500,000 100 Property
HK$1 shares
New Tech Centre Limited Hong Kong 10,000 100 Property
HK$1 shares
Olinda Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 shares 100 Property
Roville Company Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Property
Spring Wealth investments Limited British Virgin Islands 500 US$1 shares 100 Holding company
Whart China Limited Cayman Islands 500,000,000 100 Holding company
U1 shares
Wharf Estates China Limited British Virgin lslands 500 US$1 shares 100 Holding company
Beijing Capital Times Square Development The Peaple's Republic 15$59,000,000 88 Property
Company Limited of China
Beijing Times Establishment Praperty The Peaple’s Repubii, US$200,000 75 Property management
Management Company Limited of China
Shanghai Long Xing Property Development The People’s Republic Us$$45,000,000 100 Property
Company Limited of Chuna
Shanghai Times Square Property Management The People’s Republic Us$500,000 100 Property management

(Shanghai) Company Limited

of China
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Principal Subsidiaries and Associates (continued)

Issued share capital
(all being ordinary
shares and fully paid

Percentage of

Place of up except otherwise equity
incorporation/ stated)/registered attributable to
Subsidiaries operation and paid up capital the Group Principal activities
Dalian Times Square Development The People’s Republic RMB200,000,000 60 Property
Company, Limited of China
Han Long Development (Wuhan) The People’s Republic US$5,000,000 100 Property
Company Limited of China
Long Qing Property Development (Chongqing) The People’s Republic RMB167,000,000 100 Property
Company Limited of China
Shanghai Jiu Zhou Property Development The People’s Republic U$$20,000,000 85 Property
Company Limited of China
Shanghai Long Shen Real Estate Development The People's Republic Us$22,330,000 55 Property
Company Limited of China
Shanghai Wellington Garden Estate Development  The People's Republic US$16,666,666 59 Property
Company Limited ‘ of China
Shanghai Wheelock Square Development Limited ~ The People's Republic US$80,000,000 98 Property
of China
Logistics
Wharf Transport Investments Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Holding company
The “Star” Ferry Company, Limited Hong Kong 1,440,000 100 Public transport
HK$5 shares
Hong Kong Tramways, Limited Hong Kong 21,937,500 100 Public transport
HK$5 shares '
Modern Terminals Limited Hong Kong 76,891 55 Container terminal
HK$1,000 shares
Hotels
Wharf Hotel Investrents Limited Cayman Islands 500,000,000 100 Holding company
US$1 shares
Marco Polo Hotels Management Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 shares 100 Hotel management
The Hongkong Hotel Limited Hong Kong 100,000 67 Hotel and property
HK$1 shares
The Marco Polo Hotel (Hong Kong) timited Hong Kong 1,000 100 Hotel operation
HK$1 shares
The Prince Hotel Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Hotel operation
Wharf Communications Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 100 Holding company
HK$10 shares
COL Limited Hong Kong 40,000 100 Computer services
HK$500 shares
Hong Kong Cable Enterprises Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 67 Advertising airtime,
programming
licensing and
channel carriage
services
Hong Kong Cable Television Limited Hong Kong 750,000,000 67 Pay television services

HK$1 shares
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Issued share capital

(all being ordinary

shares and fully paid

Percentage of

Place of up except otherwise equity
incorporation/ stated)/registered attributable to
Subsidiaries operation and paid up capital the Group Principal activities
i-CABLE Communications Limited Hong Kong 2,019,234,400 67 Holding company
HK$1 shares
i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong 100 HK$1 shares 87 Network operation
2 HK$1 non-voting services
deferred shares
i-CABLE Satellite Television Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 67  Non-domestic television
services and
programming licensing
i-CABLE WebServe Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 67  Internet and multimedia
services
Rediffusion Satellite Services Limited Hong Kong 1,000 67 Satellite television
HK$10 shares services
EC Tefecom Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Telecommunication
Wharf T&T Limited Hong Kong 100,000,000 100 Telecommunication
HK$1 shares
Investment and others
Wharf Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$10 shares 100 Management services
Fortune Growth tnvestments Limited Hong Kong 2 HK$1 shares 100 Finance
Wharf Finance (BVI) Limited British Virgin islands 500 100 Finance
US$1 shares
Wharf International Finance Limited Cayman Islands 500 100 Finance
US$1 shares
Wharf Hong Kong Limited Cayman islands 500,000,000 100 Holding company
US$1 shares
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ attributable to
Associates operation Class of shares the Group Principal activities
Property
Diamond Hill Development Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 33 Holding company
Harriman Leasing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Leasing agent
Hopfield Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 33 Holding company
Salisburgh Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 33 Property
Kowloon Properties Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 33 Property

All the subsidiaries listed above were, as at December 31, 2004, indirect subsidiaries of the Company except

where marked #.

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries and associates of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affect the profit and assets of the Group.

# Subsidiaries held directly

* Listed companies
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Schedule of Principal Properties

As al December 31, 2004

EXPECTED
YEAR OF YEAR OF LEASE
ADDRESS LOT NUMBER COMPLETION COMPLETION EXPIRY
Whart Estates Limited
Harbour City
Investment properties
Ocean Terminal, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KPP 83 1966 2012
Ocean Centre, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 S A 1977 2880
Wharf T & T Centre, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 S.B. 1981 2880
World Commerce Centre, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 S.B. 1981 2880
World Finance Centre, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 5.D. 1983 2880
Ocean Galleries, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 §.B. &D. 1981/83 2880
Gateway |, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 R.P. 1934 2880
Gateway !, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML1158.&D. 1998/99 2880
The Marco Polo Hongkong Hotel, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 91 S.A. 1969 2863
{Commercial Section) & KML 1D S.8.
Hotels and clubs
The Marco Polo Hongkong Hotel, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 91 S.A. 1969 2863
& KML 10 5.8.
The Marco Polo Gateway, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 S.B. 1981 2880
The Marco Polo Prince, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KML 11 5.D. 1981 2880
Pacific Club Kowloon, Harbour City, Tsimshatsui KPP 6 1980 2006
Times Square
Investment property
Times Square, Sharp Street East, Causeway Bay IL731,IL 728, 1L 727, 1993 2850/60/80
IL725S.A. &RP,IL724
SA,B&RP,LT722&IL718
Plaza Hollywood
Investment property
Plaza Hollywood, 3 Lung Poon Street, Diamond Hilt NKit 6160 1997 2047
Wharf Estates Development Limited
investment properties
World Trade Square, Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong KTIL 713 1991 2047
26-27/F, World-Wide Rouse, Central I 8432 1979 2053
Various Units of Cable TV Tower, Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan TWTL 218 1992 2047
Various Units of Grandtech Centre, On Sum Street, Shatin STTL 375 1996 2047
Various Units of Strawberry Hill, 8 Plunkett's Road, The Peak RBL 512 & 1004 1974777 2027728
77 Peak Road, The Peak RBL 836 1951 2029
Chelsea Court RBL 556 R.PS.A. 2001 2035
63 Mount Kellett Road, The Peak & S.B.
Mountain Court RBL 522, 639, 661 2001 2027
11-13 Plantation Road, The Peak
1 Plantation Road, The Peak RBL 534 SE. &F 2002 2028
Other property
Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin STTL 422 1999 2047
Property under redevelopment
3-5 Gough Hill Path, The Peak RBL 1169 2006 2031/50
60 Victoria Road, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong IL 8079 N/A 2064
Cable TV Tower South TWIL 36 N/A 2047
Chai Wan Kok Street, Tsuen Wan
Kowloon Godown, 1-3 Kai Hing Road, Kowloon Bay NKIL 5805, 5806 & 5982 N/A 2047
Yau Tong Godown, S Tung Yuen Street, Kowioon YTIL 4SA & adjoining Government land N/A 2047
Properties under development undertaken by associates
Bellagic, Sham Tseng Lot 266 in DD 390
Phase i, v 2005 2051
Various Lots at Yau Tong Bay, R.P.of YIML 22 & ext., N/A 2047

Yau Tong, Kowloon

YTML 28 & ext., YTML 29 &
ext., and YTML 12, 32 and
33 together with adjoining

lots at Yau Tong Bay
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APPROXIMATE GROSS FLOOR AREAS (SQ.FT.)

INDUSTRIAL HOTEL

SITE AREA — OFFICE/ aus (NO. OF STAGE OF ATTRIBUTABLE
(SQ.FT.) OFFICE RETAIL  RESIDENTIAL INDUSTRIAL HOUSE ROOMS) COMPLETION INTEREST
346,719 658,000 100%
126,488 677,000 224,000 100%
{a) 257,000 100%
(a) 257,000 100%
(a) 512,000 100%
(a8} 386,000 100%
(@ 1,128,000 108,000 100%
(a) 1,570,000 400,000 670,000 100%
(b} 34,000 137,000 67%
58814 664 67%
(a) 431 100%
(a) 394 100%
48,309 139,000 100%
112,441 1,033,000 936,000 100%
280,510 562,000 100%
48,438 330,000 65,000 100%
NA 21,000 100%
N/A $22,000 100%
N/A 380,000 100%
N/A 37,000 100%
76,728 32,000 100%
29,640 43,000 100%
32,145 49,900 100%
97,670 97,000 100%
70,127 344,000 100%
48,321 24,700 Superstructure in progress 100%
6,100 48,800 Superstructure in progress 67%
66,005 120,000 1,032 Planning stage 100%
165,809 995,100 200 Planning stage 100%
40,637 41.000 203,000 Planning stage 100%
N/A 1,591,800 (637,200 s.f. Superstructure in progress ) 33':%

pre-sold) ’
2,185,000 301,000 8,740,000 Planning stage 15.6%
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Schedule of Principal Properties (continued)

EXPECTED
YEAR OF YEAR OF LEASE
ADDRESS LOT NUMBER COMPLETION COMPLETION EXPIRY
Wharf Estates China Limited
Investment properties
Beijing Capital Times Square 1999 2044
88 West Changan Avenue, Beijing
Shanghai Times Square 1999 2043
93-111 Huai Hai Zhong Road, Shanghai
Chongging Times Square 2004 2050
Zou Rong Road/Min Zu Road, Yuzheng District, Chongaing
Properties under development
Wellington Garden 2006 2045
Area 8 of 148, Huai Hai Xi Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai
Dalian Times Square 2007 2038/2069
Ren Min Road, Zhongshan District, Datian
Wuhan Times Square 2007 2053773
Yan Jiang Da Dao & Nanling Road, Jiangan District, Wuhan
Parc Royal 2007 2044
176, Huai Hai Xi Road, Changning District, Shanghai '
Commercial development at 2008 2046
1717, Nan Jing Xi Road, Jingan District, Shanghai
Jing An Garden 2008 2043/63

398, Wanhangdu Road, Jingan District, Shanghai

#  Including basement carpark area.
Residential includes office-apartments.

Notes:
(a) Part of Harbour City, total site area is 428,719 sq. ft.

(b) Part of The Marco Polo Hongkong Hotel building.
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INDUSTRIAL HOTEL
SITE AREA — OFFICE/ CLUB (NO. OF STAGE OF ATTRIBUTABLE
{SQ.FT.} OFFICE RETAIL RESIDENTIAL INDUSTRIAL HOUSE ROOMS) COMPLETION INTEREST
141,007 625,000 670,000 4 88%
148,703 331,000 685,000 # 195,000 100%
95,799 13,800 724,000 # 100%
80,482 562,000 #* Foundation work and 59%
superstructure in progress

187,670 167,000 1,699,000 # Planning stage 60%
187,649 103,400 2,305,000 #* Foundation in progress 100%
118,220 802,000 #* Planning stage 85%
136,432 1,565,0004 24,300 Foundation in progress 98%
170,825 970,000 #* Planning stage 55%
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Ten-Year Financial Summary

Restated Restated Restated
1985 1996 1997 1998 1999
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Summary of Profit and Loss Account
Turnover (Note 1) 6,770 8,405 10,980 10,840 10,521
Group profit attributable to shareholders 3,605 2,239 1,882 1,922 3,217
Prior year adjustment (Note 2, 4 to 6) — — (960) (51) 294
Restated amount 3,605 2,239 922 1,871 ' 3,511
Dividends 2,278 2,593 1,793 1,790 1,881
Summary of Balance Sheet
Fixed assets (Note 5) 85,215 98,326 93,434 71,651 73,362
Goodwili — — — — —
Long term deposits — — — — —
Associates (Note 4) 4,181 2,769 4,463 3,842 5,197
Jointly controlied entity — — — — —
Long term investments (Note 4) 2,328 4,324 7.824 7,107 5,258
Deferred debtors 97 104 238 349 506
Deferred items (Note 5) 2,128 2,391 2,432 653 575
Deferred tax assets (Note 6) — — — — —
Current assets 10,118 8,337 8,777 8,529 12,536
Current liabilities (Note 3) (5,807) {9,589) (8,457) (13,469) {10,345)
98,260 106,662 108,711 78,662 87,089
Representing: _
Share capital 2,169 2,300 2,295 2,295 2,446
Reserves (Note 2 to 6) 71,729 83,527 75,638 49,624 51,966
Shareholders’ funds 73,898 85,827 77.933 51,919 54,412
Convertible subordinated bonds 3,054 — — — —
Long term loan/deferred liabilities (Note 2) 18,570 15,983 25,997 22,322 26,802
Minority interests (Note 2, 4 to 6) 2,556 4,382 4,264 3,903 5,368
Deferred taxation (Note 6) 182 470 517 518 507
98,260 106,662 108,711 78,662 87,089
Note:

Pursuant to the adoption of the following new or revised Statement of Standard Accounting Practices (“SSAP") and Interpretation,

- SSAP 1 (revised) : Presentation of financial statements

— SSAP 9 {revised) T Events after the balance sheet date

- SSAP 11 (revised) . Foreign currency translation

— SSAP 12 {revised) © Income taxes

— SSAP 15 (revised) : Cash flow statement

— SSAP 24 . Accounting for investments in securities

— SSAP 28 : Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
— SSAP 34 : Employee benefits

— Interpretation 9 © Accounting for pre-operating costs
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Restated Restated
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million
Summary of Profit and Loss Account
Turnover (Note 1) 12,023 11,725 11,333 11,253 11,953
Group profit attributable to shareholders 2,480 2,519 2,303 3,043 3,767
Prior year adjustment (Note 2, 4 to 6) 14 — (44) —_ —
Restated amount 2,494 2,518 2,259 3,043 3,767
Dividends 1,908 1,908 1,370 1,487 1,683
Summary of Balance Sheet
Fixed assets (Note 5) 77,237 74,445 69,044 71,120 82,143
Goodwill —_ 419 397 347 297
Long term deposits — 468 156 156 156
Associates (Note 4) 4,972 3,389 3,367 2,075 1,583
Jointly controlied entity — — - — 348
Long term investments (Note 4) 1,901 1,088 1,178 1,392 1,654
Deferred debtors 433 485 459 439 426
Deferred items (Note 5) 570 533 468 432 402
Deferred tax assets (Note 6) -— — 108 112 118
Current assets 7,390 7,637 5,945 5,089 6,482
Current liabilities (Note 3) (12,893) (12,181) (11,420) {(11,160) (8,604)
79,610 76,283 69,702 70,002 85,005
Representing:
Share capital 2,446 2,447 2,447 2,447 2,447
Reserves (Note 2 to 6) 55,504 52,198 45,287 49,181 62,721
Shareholders’ funds 57,950 54,645 47,734 51,628 65,168
Convertible subordinated bonds — — — — —
Long term foan/deferred liabilities (Note 2) 17,156 17,441 16,673 12,605 13,463
Minority interests {Note 2, 4 to 6) 4,026 3,730 3,681 4,021 4,355
Deferred taxation (Note 6) 478 467 1,614 1,748 2,019
79,610 76,283 69,702 70,002 85,005

Certain figures have been reclassified or restated as set out below:
1. Turnover figures for the years ended December 31, 1997 and onwards are presented in accordance with the requirements SSAP 1 (revised).

2. These figures have been restated pursuant to the adoption of SSAP 28 as explained in Note 11b to the accounts of 2001. Figures for
1999 and prior years have not been restated as it would involve delay and expenses out of proportion to the benefit to shareholders.

3. These figures have been restated pursuant to the adoption of SSAP 9 (revised) as explained in Note 11¢ to the accounts of 2001. Figures
for 1999 and prior years have not been restated as it would involve delay and expenses out of proportion to the benefit to shareholders.

4. These figures have been restated pursuant to the adoption of SSAP 24 as explained in Note 10 to the 1999 accounts. Figures for 1996
and prior years have not been restated as it would involve delay and expenses out of proportion to the benefit to sharehoiders.

5. These figures have been restated pursuant to the adoption of Interpretation 9 “Accounting for pre-operating costs” as explained in

Note 8 to 2000 accounts. Figures for 1997 and prior years have not been restated as it would involve delay and expenses out of
proportion to the benefit to shareholders.

6. These figures have been restated pursuant to the adoption of SSAP 12 (revised) as explained in Note 11 to the accounts of 2003. Figure,
for 2001 and prior years have not been restated as it would involve delay and expenses out of proportion to the benefit to sharehokder-,
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22nd April, 2005
(* Independent Non-executive Directors)

7o the Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
GENERAL MANDATES ETC.

1. At the Annual General Meeting of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) held
on 18th May, 2004, ordinary resolutions were passed giving general mandates to
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) (i) to repurchase shares of the Company on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) of up to 10 per cent.
of the issued share capital of the Company as at 18th May, 2004; and (ii) to allot, issue
and otherwise deal with shares up to a limit equal to (a) 20 per cent. of the shares of the
Company in issue as at 18th May, 2004, plus (b) (authorised by a separate ordinary
resolution as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) the nominal amount of any shares repurchased by the
Company.
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Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules, these general mandates will
lapse at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM™) for 2005, unless
renewed at that meeting. Resolutions will be proposed at the AGM to renew these
mandates, and the Explanatory Statement required by the Listing Rules to be sent to
shareholders in connection with the proposed repurchase mandate is set out in the
Appendix to this document.

Following a recent review of the level of fee payable to the Directors of the Company
which was last fixed in 1990 and has remained static since then, it is now considered
appropriate, in light of current corporate practice, to revise the rate of Directors’ fee
from the original amount of HK$35,000 per Director per annum to HK$50,000 with
retroactive effect from 1st January, 2005. Moreover, since the establishment of the
Company’s Audit Committee (which comprises four members, namely, Mr. Paul M. P.
Chan, Hon. Vincent K. Fang, Mr. Hans Michael Jebsen and Mr. James E. Thompson,
who are Directors of the Company) on Ist January, 1999, no fee has ever been paid to
the Members of the Audit Committee. It is considered appropriate to also pay an extra
remuneration to each Audit Committee Member of the Company at the rate of
HK$15,000 per annum with retroactive effect from 1st January, 2005. A resolution to
give effect to such fee revision and payment will be put forward at the forthcoming AGM
for seeking shareholders’ approval.

Set out below are the details of the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM:

Mr. Paul Mo Po CHAN, aged 49, was appointed a Director of the Company in 2004.
He is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. He also serves as a
member of the Company’s Audit Committee. He is the managing partner of Paul Chan &
Partners, Certified Public Accountants (Practising). He is also an independent non-
executive director of publicly listed Proview International Holdings Limited, CITIC
Resources Holdings Limited, I.T Limited, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
and Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited.

Mr. Chan is a graduate of The Chinese University of Hong Kong where he obtained both
his bachelor’s and master’s degrees in Business Administration. Mr. Chan is a Practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors, the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong, the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries, and a member of the Macau
Society of Certified Practising Accountants.

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited




Mr. Chan has over 27 years’ experience in accounting and finance field and is currently
the vice president of the HKICPA. He had been a former chairman of the ACCA - Hong
Kong and a former member of the World Council of the ACCA in the United Kingdom.

After Mr. Chan’s re-election at the forthcoming AGM, he will continue to serve on the
board of Directors for a period of approximately 3 years until he becomes due to retire by
rotation again in accordance with the Articles of Association. So far as the Directors are
aware, as at 14th April, 2005 (being the latest practicable date for determining the
relevant information), Mr. Chan did not have any interest (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) in the shares of the Company. He
does not have any relationship with any other Directors or senior management or any
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Chan is currently receiving a
Director’s fee at the rate of HK$35,000 per annum. He has no service contract with the

Company or any of its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and therefore he receives no emolument
from the Group other than the Director’s fee.

Professor Edward Kwan Yiu CHEN, GBS, CBE, JP, aged 60, has been a Director of
the Company since 2002. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
He is currently the president of Lingnan University in Hong Kong. He is also an
honorary professor and a distinguished fellow of the Centre of Asian Studies at the
University of Hong Kong, an honorary professor of Shantou University, and a visiting
professor of Jinan University. He was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong
Kong in 1991 and 1992, and a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from
1992 to 1997. He was also a member of the Hong Kong SAR Basic Law Consultative
Committee from 1985 to 1990. He is a director of First Pacific Co. Ltd., China
Resources Peoples Telephone Company Limited and Asia Satellite Telecommunications
Holdings Ltd. and a trustee of Eaton Vance Management Funds. He is currently
chairman of the Hong Kong Committee for Pacific Economic Cooperation.

Professor Chen was educated at The University of Hong Kong (Bachelor of Arts and
Master of Social Science) and Oxford University (Doctor of Philosophy). He was
appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and awarded a CBE in 1995. In 2003, he was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal by the Hong Kong SAR Government.

After Professor Chen’s re-election at the forthcoming AGM, he will continue to serve on
the board of Directors for a period of approximately 3 years until he becomes due to
retire by rotation again in accordance with the Articles of Association. So far as the
Directors are aware, as at 14th April, 2005, Professor Chen did not have any interest
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) in the shares of the Company. He does not
have any relationship with any other Directors or senior management or any substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Professor Chen is currently receiving a
Director’s fee at the rate of HK$35,000 per annum. He has no service contract with the

Group and therefore he receives no emolument from the Group other than the Director’s
fee.
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Dr. Raymond Kuo Fung Ch’ien, GBS, CBE, JP, aged 53, has been a Director of the
Company since 2002. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
He is the executive chairman and chief executive officer of chinadotcom corporation,
chairman of its subsidiary, hongkong.com corporation, and chairman of MTR
Corporation Limited. Dr. Ch’ien serves on the boards of HSBC Holdings plc, The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Inchcape plc, Convenience Retail
Asia Limited and VTech Holdings Limited.

In public service, Dr. Ch’ien is chairman of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption; chairman of the Hong Kong/European
Union Business Cooperation Committee and is a Hong Kong member of the APEC
Business Advisory Council. Dr. Ch’ien is an honorary president and past chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He is also president of Hong Chi Association,
Hong Kong’s leading non-government organization helping mentally handicapped
persons. From 1992 to 1997, Dr. Ch’ien was a member of the Executive Council of
Hong Kong, then under British administration. He was appointed a member of the
Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR on 1st July, 1997 and served until June 2002,

He also served as Chairman of Industry and Technology Development Council from 1993
to 1999,

Dr. Ch’ien received a doctoral degree in Economics from the University of Pennsylvania
in 1978. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and a Commander in the Most

Excellent Order of the British Empire in 1994. In 1999, he was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star Medal.

After Dr. Ch’ien’s re-election at the forthcoming AGM, he will continue to serve on the
board of Directors for a period of approximately 3 years until he becomes due to retire by
rotation again in accordance with the Articles of Association. So far as the Directors are
aware, as at 14th April, 2005, Dr. Ch’ien did not have any interest (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) in the shares of the Company. He does not have any relationship
with any other Directors or senior management or any substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Dr. Ch’ien is currently receiving a Director’s fee at the
rate of HK$35,000 per annum. He has no service contract with the Group and therefore
he receives no emolument from the Group other than the Director’s fee.

Hon. Vincent Kang FANG, JP, aged 61, has been a Director of the Company since
1993. He is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company. He also serves as
a member and chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee. He is the chief executive
officer of Toppy Co. (HK) Ltd. and managing director of Fantastic Garments Limited.
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He currently serves as a member of Legislative Council representing Wholesale and
Retail in Functional Constituency. He is a member of the Hospital Authority and Hong
Kong Tourism Board. He is also the chairman of Hospital Governing Committee of
Princess Margaret Hospital and Kwai Chung Hospital and the Quality Tourism Services
Association. He is an honorary advisor of Hong Kong Retail Management Association
and a director of The Federation of Hong Kong Garment Manufacturers. He is also a
Justice of the Peace. Mr. Fang is a graduate of North Carolina State University where
he obtained both his bachelor’s and master’s degrees in Science of Textiles Engineering.

After Mr. Fang’s re-election at the forthcoming AGM, he will continue to serve on the
board of Directors for a period of approximately 3 years until he becomes due to retire by
rotation again in accordance with the Articles of Association. So far as the Directors are
aware, as at 14th April, 2005, Mr. Fang did not have any interest (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) in the shares of the Company. He does not have any relationship
with any other Directors or senior management or any substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Fang is currently receiving a Director’s fee at the rate
of HK$35,000 per annum. He has no service contract with the Group and therefore he
receives no emolument from the Group other than the Director’s fee.

Notice of the AGM is set out on pages 9 to 12 of this document. A form of proxy for
use at the AGM is enclosed. Whether or not you intend to be present at the AGM, you
are requested to complete the form of proxy and return it to the registered office of the
Company in accordance with the instructions printed thereon not less than 48 hours
before the time fixed for the holding of the AGM. Completion of the form of proxy and

its return to the Company will not preclude you from attending, and voting at, the AGM
if you so wish.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a poll may be demanded in relation to any
resolution put to the vote of the AGM before or on the declaration of the result of the
show of hands or on the withdrawal of any other demand for a poll:

(a) by the Chairman of the meeting; or

(b) by at least five members present in person or by proxy for the time being
entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(c) by any member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not
less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the members having the right
to vote at the meeting; or

(d) by a member or members present in person or by proxy and holding shares in
the company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which an
aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth of the total
sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.
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7.  The Directors believe that the general mandates are in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders. Accordingly, the Directors recommend you to vote in favour of all the
relevant resolutions to be proposed at the AGM.

Yours faithfully,
Peter K. C. Woo
Chairman
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APPENDIX
EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

The following 1s the Explanatory Statement required to be sent to shareholders under the

Listing Rules in connection with the proposed general mandate for repurchase of shares and
also constitutes the Memorandum required under section 49BA of the Companies Ordinance.
References in this Statement to “Share(s)” mean ordinary share(s) of HK$1.00 each in the
capital of the Company:

Q)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

It is proposed that the general repurchase mandate will authorise the repurchase by the
Company of up to 10 per cent. of the Shares in issue at the date of passing the resolution
to approve the general repurchase mandate. As at 14th April, 2005, being the latest
practicable date for determining such figure, the number of Shares in issue was
2,447,476,629 Shares. On the basis of such figure (and assuming no further Shares will
be issued or repurchased after 14th April, 2005 and up to the date of passing such
resolution), exercise in full of the general repurchase mandate would result in the
repurchase by the Company of up to 244,747 662 Shares.

The Directors believe that the general authority from shareholders to enable repurchase
of Shares is in the interests of the Company and its shareholders. Repurchases may,
depending on the circumstances, result in an increase in net assets and/or earnings per
Share. The Directors are seeking the grant of a general mandate to repurchase Shares to
give the Company the flexibility to do so if and when appropriate. The number(s) of
Shares to be repurchased on any occasion and the price and other terms upon which the
same are repurchased will be decided by the Directors at the relevant time having regard
to the circumstances then pertaining.

The funds required for any repurchase would be derived from the distributable profits of
the Company legally available for such purpose in accordance with the Company’s
constitutive documents and the laws of Hong Kong.

There could be an adverse impact on the working capital or gearing position of the
Company (as compared with the position disclosed in its most recent audited accounts
for the year ended 31st December, 2004 being forwarded to all shareholders together
with this circular letter) in the event that the general repurchase mandate were exercised
in full at any time during the proposed repurchase period. However, the Directors do
not propose to exercise the general repurchase mandate to such extent as would, in the
circumstances, have a material adverse effect on the working capital of the Company or
the gearing level which in the opinion of the Directors is from time to time appropriate
for the Company.

There are no Directors or (to the best of the knowledge of the Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries) any associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Directors
of the Company who have a present intention, in the event that the general repurchase
mandate is granted by shareholders, to sell Shares to the Company.

-7-
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(vi)

(vii)

The Directors have undertaken to the Stock Exchange to exercise the power of the
Company to make purchases pursuant to the general repurchase mandate in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the laws of Hong Kong.

The Directors are not aware of any consequences which would arise under the Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeover Code™) as a consequence of any
purchases pursuant to the general repurchase mandate. However, if as a result of a
repurchase of Shares a shareholder’s proportionate interest in the voting rights of the
Company increases, such increase would be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of
the Takeover Code. Accordingly, a shareholder or group of shareholders acting in
concert could obtain or consolidate control of the Company and become obliged to
make a mandatory offer in accordance with Rule 26 of the Takeover Code.

(viii) No purchase has been made by the Company of Shares in the six months prior to the

(ix)

(x)

latest practicable date before the printing of this document.

No connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company have notified the
Company of a present intention to sell Shares to the Company and no such persons have

undertaken not to sell Shares to the Company in the event that the general repurchase
mandate is granted by shareholders.

The highest and lowest prices at which Shares were traded on the Stock Exchange in
each of the previous twelve months are as follows:

Highest (HKS) Lowest (HKS)

April 2004 24 85 21.15
May 2004 ' 23.15 17.90
June 2004 22.80 20.50
July 2004 25.05 21.70
August 2004 26.15 23.10
September 2004 28.15 25.25
October 2004 ‘ 28.00 24.45
‘November 2004 29.00 25.30
December 2004 28.10 26.30
January 2005 27.30 24.15
February 2005 26.55 24 .85
March 2005 26.65 24.20
From 1st Apnl, 2005 to 14th April,

2005, being the latest practicable date 26.40 24.20

-8-
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THE WHARF (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of The
Wharf (Holdings) Limited will be held in the Centenary Room, Ground Floor, The Marco Polo
Hongkong Hotel, 3 Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, on Wednesday, 18th May, 2005 at
10:00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting the following business:

As ordinary business:

(1) To receive and consider the Statement of Accounts and the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors for the year ended 3 1st December, 2004.

(2) To declare a Final Dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2004.

(3) To re-elect retiring Directors.
(4) To appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(5) To approve an increase in the rate of fee payable to each Director of the Company from
HK$35,000 per annum to HK$50,000 per annum, and to approve the payment to each
of those Directors of the Company who from time to time are also members of the

Audit Committee of the Company of an extra remuneration at the rate of HK$15,000
per annum.

And as special business, to consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification
the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

(6) “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by the Directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period of all the powers of the Company to purchase shares

in the capital of the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of shares which may be purchased on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or any other stock exchange recognised for this
purpose by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited under the Code on Share Repurchases pursuant
to the approval in paragraph (a) above shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date
of passing this Resolution, and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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(©)

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period” means the period from the
passing of this Resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(aa)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

(bb)  the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company is required by law to be held; and

(cc)  the revocation or variation of the authority given under this Resolution by
ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting.”

“THAT:

(a)

(b)

(c)

subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the Directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and
deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant
offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such power be
and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved,

the approval in paragraph (a) shall authorise the Directors of the Company during
the Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such power after the end of the Relevant Period,

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or agreed conditionally or
unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the
Directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a), otherwise
than pursuant to (i) any executive or employee share option or incentive scheme,
or (ii) a Rights Issue, or (iii) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing
for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on shares of
the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
shall not exceed the aggregate of:

(aa) 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue at the date of passing this Resolution; plus

(bb)  (if the Directors are so authorised by a separate ordinary resolution of the
shareholders of the Company) the nominal amount of share capital of the
Company repurchased by the Company subsequent to the passing of this
Resolution (up to a maximum equivalent to 10 per cent. of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date of
passing this Resolution),

and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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(d)

for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until
whichever is the earliest of:

(aa)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

(bb) the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company is required by law to be held; and

(cc) the revocation or variation of the approval given under this Resolution by
ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares, or an offer of warrants, options or other
securities giving rights to subscribe for shares, open for a period fixed by the
Company or by the Directors of the Company to holders of shares of the
Company or any class thereof on the register on a fixed record date in proportion
to their then holdings of such shares or class thereof (subject to such exclusion or
other arrangements as the Directors of the Company may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions
or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory
body or any stock exchange in, any territory outside Hong Kong).”

“THAT the general mandate granted to the Directors of the Company to exercise the
powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with any additional shares of the
Company pursuant to ordinary resolution (7) set out in the notice convening this
meeting be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount representing the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company repurchased by the
Company under the authority granted pursuant to ordinary resolution (6) set out in the

notice convening this meeting, provided that such extended amount shall not exceed 10

per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue
at the date of passing this Resolution.”

By Order of the Board
Wilson W. S, Chan
Secretary

Hong Kong, 22nd Apnl, 2005

Registered Office:
16th Floor, Ocean Centre,
Harbour City, Canton Road,

Kowloon,
Hong Kong

-11 -
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Notes:

@

(b)

(c)

@

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the above notice is
entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and, in the event of a poll, to vote in
his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. In order to be valid, the
Jorm of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under
which it is signed (or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or authority)
must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 16th Floor, Ocean Centre,
Harbour City, Canton Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting.

With reference to the Ordinary Resolution proposed under item (7) above, the
Directors wish to state that they have no immediate plans to issue any new shares of
the Company pursuant to the mandate to be given thereunder, other than under the
executive share incentive scheme from time to time adopted by the Company.

The Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 11th May, 2005 to
Wednesday, 18th May, 2005, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company can be registered. In order to qualify for the abovementioned
Final Dividend, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company's Registrars, Tengis Limited, at Ground Floor, Bank of
East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 10th May, 2005.

Arrangements will be made for the voting of each of the resolutions being put to the
meeting to be dealt with by means of poll vote.
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